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OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT
Between Ohio EPA and TechSouth Development Co., LLC
Regarding the Former Techneglas Facility,
Franklin County, Ohio

This Operation and Maintenance Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into by the
Director of the Ohio Environmental Protection Agency (‘Director”), and TechSouth
Development Co., LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (‘Owner”), pursuant 1o
Ohic Revised Code (“ORC") Chapter 3746 and Ohio Administrative Code (“OAC”)
Chapter 3745-300. In consideration of the mutual covenants and subject to the terms
and conditions of this Agreement, the parties agree as follows:

1. The NFA Letter. A no further action letter (NFA Letter No. O09NFA373; the “NFA
Letter”) under the Voluntary Action Program (“VAP") was submitted to the
Director on behalf of the Volunieers, TechSouth Development Co., LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company, and the City of Columbus, on September 4,
2009, by Matthew D. Knecht, a certified professional (Certified Professional
No.105), for approximately 46.371 acres of real property and consisting of eight
entire parcels and a portion of a ninth parcel (the “Property”), all of which are
owned by TechSouth Development Co., LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company and located at 727 East Jenkins Avenue, Franklin County, Ohio. The
legal description of the Property is attached hereto as Exhibit 1, and incorporated
by reference herein. The NFA Letter includes an Operation and Maintenance
Plan (“O&M Plan”) for the Property. The term “O&M Plan’ refers to the O&M
Plan dated December 2009. The O&M Plan is attached hereto as Exhibit 2 and
is incorporated into this Agreement by reference.

2. Addenda to the NFA Letter. An Addendum to the NFA | etter was submitted by
the Certified Professional in December 2000 to address comments received on
the NFA Letter and includes the December 2009 O&M Plan referenced above.

3. Requirement for an Operation and Maintenance Agreement. This
Agreement is required for the Property pursuant to ORC 3746.10(C)(2) and
3746.12{A)(2) and OAC Rule 3745-300-11(A)(4) and 3745-300-11(E)4).

4. Remedy for the Property. The remedy for the Property includes:

a. Engineering Controls.  As provided in the O&M Plan, pavement
engineering controls, and fencing as an interim engineering control until
all of the pavement has been installed, a risk mitigation plan for the
protection of future construction and excavation workers (RMP). The
pavement engineering controls, fencing as an interim engineering control
until all of the pavement has been instalied, and RMP are only applicable
to portions of two of the parcels that comprise the Property, specifically



Permanent Parcel Numbers (PPNs) 010-113409 and 010-112267, as
described in the O&M Plan.

b. Activity and Use Limitations. The activity and use restrictions are set forth
in the proposed Environmental Covenant developed pursuant to ORC
5301.80 to 5301.92 and consist of a commercialfindustrial land use
restriction and a restriction against the use of groundwater for the entire
Property and a restriction on the construction of buildings for limited
portions of the two parcels that are also subject to pavement engineering
controls. Following the issuance of a covenant not to sue (“Covenant”) for
the Property, the Environmental Covenant will be recorded pursuant {0
ORC 3746.14 with the Franklin County Recorder's Office as deed records
for the Property.

Engineering Controls and Other Remedial Activities Subject to Operation
and Maintenance Plan. The engineering controls and other remedial activities,
not including institutional controls, as set forth in the Remedy for the Property
Section of this Agreement, are part of the voluntary action remedy and must be
established and maintained by TechSouth Development Co., LLC in accordance
with this Agreement and the O&M Plan to demonstrate that the Property will
maintain and comply with the applicable standards set forth in ORC Chapter
3746 and OAC Chapter 3745-300 and in the covenant not to sue issued
pursuant to ORC 3746.12 for the Property (the “Covenant’).

implementation of O&M Plan. TechSouth Development Co., LLC agrees
implement the engineering controls and other remedial activities for the Property
in accordance with the O&M Plan, and perform all inspections, repairs, reporting,
record keeping, and all other requirements in accordance with the O&M Plan.

Property Access. TechSouth Development Co., LLC certifies that it has access
to the Property sufficient to fully implement the O&M Plan and this Agreement.
Further, upon transfer of the Property or a portion thereof, the TechSouth
Development Co., LLC shall require the transferee to maintain such access as a
condition of the transfer.

Recording of Agreement. TechSouth Development Co., LLC shall cause this
Agreement to be recorded as required by the Covenant and as required by ORC

3746.14.

Effect of Violation of this Agreement. Failure to comply with this Agreement
or the O&M Plan, may constitute the failure to maintain an applicable standard in
accordance with ORC 3746.12(B) and OAC Chapter 3745-300, and may be
subject to the process outlined in the Compliance Schedule Section of this
Agreement. Noncompliance with an institutional control for the Property voids
the Covenant, as provided in ORC 3746.05.



10.

11.

12.

13.

Financial Assurance. TechSouth Development Co., LLC agrees to ensure that
reasonable and adequate funds in the amount of at least Forty-six thousand one
hundred nine dollars ($46,109) (“Minimum Amount”) are available to comply with
this Agreement and the O&M Plan by executing and funding acceptable financial
assurance. Examples of acceptable financial assurance include a trust fund, a
surety bond guaranteeing payment into a frust fund, a surety bond guaranteeing
performance of this Agreement and the O&M Plan, a letter of credit, an insurance
policy, a financial test and corporate guaraniee, an escrow account or such other
financial assurance as approved by Ohio EPA. For its financial assurance,
TechSouth Development Co., LLC has secured the commitment of funds from
Greystone Select Holdings LLC in the aggregate amount of Forty-Six Thousand
One Hundred Nine Dollars ($46,109), attached hereto as Exhibit #3. TechSouth
Development Co., LLC agrees to maintain the commitment of funds from
Greystone Select Holdings LLC or execute and fund other comparable,
acceptable financial assurance and submit a copy of each financial assurance to
Ohio EPA. In the event the amount or form of financial assurance provided
herein is inadequate to comply with the terms of this Agreement, the Director
may propose a Modification of this paragraph pursuant to the Modification
Section of this Agreement.

Notice to Prospective Property Transferees. At least thirty (30) days prior to
the execution of any sales contract or other document transferring ownership of
the Property or any portion of the Property, TechSouth Development Co., LLC
agrees to provide written notice to the prospective Property transferee that the
Property, or such portion of the Property, is subject to the Covenant, this
Agreement, and the O&M Plan.

Notice to the Director of Transfer of Property. Within fourteen (14) days after
a sale or other transfer of the Property, or any portion of the Property, TechSouth
Development Co., LLC shall provide written notice to the Director that the
Property, or such portion of the Property, has been sold or otherwise transferred.
This notice submitted to the Director shall include:

a. The name, address, and telephone number of the new Property owner
and the name, address, and telephone number of the contact person for
the new Property owner,

b. A legal description of the Property or such portion of the Property being
transferred; and

c. The closing date of the transfer of ownership of the Property or such
portion of the Property.

Option to Transfer this Agreement / Notice to Director. Pursuant to ORC
3746.14(C), TechSouth Development Co., LLC may transfer this Agreement to
any other person (the “Transferee”) by assignment or in conjunction with the



14.

acquisition of title to the Property. Within fourteen (14) days after such proposed
transfer, TechSouth Development Co., LLC shall provide written notice to the
Director of the terms and conditions of the transfer of obligations of this
Agreement and the O&M Plan (“Transfer Terms and Conditions”), by submitting:

a. The name, address, and telephone number of the Transferee and the
name, address, and telephone number of the contact person for the
Transferee;

b. A statement of the extent to which the Transferee has assumed the

obligations of this Agreement and the O&M Plan;

c. A copy of the legal instrument(s) that provide the Transfer Terms and
Conditions; and

d. A copy of the Transferee’s fully executed and funded proposed financial
assurance that complies with the Financial Assurance Section of this
Agreement. The Transferor's financial assurance shall remain effective
until the Transferee’s financial assurance is fully executed and funded.

Upon the Director’s receipt of such notice of the Transfer Terms and Conditions
in accordance with this section of the Agreement the Transferee is considered a
party to this Agreement in accordance with the Transfer Terms and Conditions.

Subparceling. Upon written notice submitted by TechSouth Development Co.,
LLC to the Director that one or more parcels of the Property have been divided or
subparceled, this Agreement shall apply separately to each subdivided parcel
upon the date of subdivision or the date of the submission of written notice,
whichever occurs later. TechSouth Development Co., LLC shall provide such
written notice by submitting:

a. The legal description of the subdivided parcels;

b. A survey map or maps of the subdivided parcels;

C. The date of the subdivision;

d. A copy of the legal instrument(s) providing for the subdivision; and
e. The names of the new owner, if any, of the subdivided parcels.

Upon the written notice submitted pursuant to this Section, this Agreement shall
he deemed to be amended, without modification of this Agreement, to identify the
subdivided parcels of the Property. The Covenant shall remain in effect for any
subdivided portion of the Property that continues to comply with the requirements
of this Agreement and the applicable standards that form the basis of the



15.

16.

Covenant. Any revocation of the Covenant for any parcel shall not be based
solely on a finding that any other subdivided parcel of the Property no longer
complies with the applicable standards or the requirements of this Agreement.

Document Submittals / Notifications to Parties. Al documents, including but
not limited to notices and reports, required to be submitted by TechSouth
Development Co., LLC pursuant to this Agreement shall be identified by NFA No.
OONFA373 and addressed to:

Ohio Environmental Protection Agency
50 West Town Street

P.0O. Box 1049

Columbus, OH 43216-1049

Attn: Manager, Voluntary Action Program

and Ohio Environmental Protection Agency
Central District Office
Division of Emergency and Remedial Response
50 West Town Street
P.O. Box 1049
Columbus, OH 43216-1049
Attn: VAP Project Coordinator

All documents, including any notice required to be submitted by Ohio EPA
pursuant to this Agreement, shall be delivered to TechSouth Development Co.,
LL.C and addressed as follows:

TechSouth Development Co., LLC
152 West 57" Street, 60" Floor
New York, NY 10019

Attn: Jonathan D. Coven

Any party may designate an alternative contact name or mailing address upon
written notification to the other party.

Modification of this Agreement or the O&M Plan. TechSouth Development
Co., LLC shall submit to the Director for review and approval each proposed
modification of this Agreement or the O&M Plan, except for a minor modification,
as defined below, or a modification proposed by the Director. This Agreement or
the O&M Plan may be modified by agreement of the appropriate parties.
Modifications shall be in writing, signed by the authorized representative of
TechSouth Development Co., LLC and by the Director, and shall be effective on
the date signed by the Director. Ohio EPA reserves the right to require the
submittal of a new NFA Letter for a proposed modification that wil result in the
application of an applicable standard, land use, or a remedy different than that
contained in the NFA Letter approved by the Covenant.
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For purposes of this Agreement, “Modification” means any substantive or
material change to a term or condition of this Agreement or the O&M Plan, such
as a proposal to revise, replace, or terminate an engineering control, or to revise
the financial assurance as required by Section 10 of this Agreement.

For purposes of this Agreement, “Minor Modification” means a non-substantive or
non-material, administrative change to a term or condition of this Agreement or
the O&M Plan, such as the transfer of this Agreement and the O&M Plan in
accordance with the Option to Transfer Section of this Agreement, or a change of
a named contact person or an address contained in this Agreement or the O&M
Plan. Within fourteen (14) days after implementation of a Minor Modification to
this Agreement or the O&M Plan, TechSouth Development Co., LLC agrees to
provide Ohio EPA written notice of the Minor Modification.

Compliance Schedule Agreement. Within thirty (30) days after the mailing of
notice from the Director of the finding that the Property or a portion of the
Property no longer complies with the applicable standards upon which the
issuance of the Covenant was based, TechSouth Development Co., LLC shall
notify the Director of its intention to return the Property or such portion of the
Property to compliance with the applicable standards upon which the Covenant
was based (“cure”) and enter into a compliance schedule agreement with the
Director for such cure, in accordance with ORC 3746.12(B). The compliance
schedule agreement shall establish a reasonable period of time for returning to
compliance with those applicable standards.

Compliance with Other Laws. TechSouth Development Co., LLC shalf conduct
all activities pursuant to this Agreement and the O&M Plan in compliance with all
local, state, and federal laws and regulations, including but not limited to
requirements to obtain permits or authorizations. TechSouth Development Co.,
LLC acknowledges that Ohio EPA’s review and approval of any health and safety
measures or the RMP contained in the O&M Plan is limited to ensuring
compliance with the requirements of ORC Chapter 3746 and OAC Chapter 3745-
300 and does not to extend to determining compliance with the Occupational
Safety and Health Act, 29 U.S.C. 651 ef seq., the regulations adopted under that
act, or any obligation imposed by the Occupational Safety and Health
Administration.

inspections by Ohio EPA. TechSouth Development Co., LLC shall allow the
Director or his authorized representative to perform inspections to determine
compliance with this Agreement. Such inspections shall be consistent with ORC
Chapter 3746 and OAC Chapter 3745-300, including but not limited to the
reasonableness of inspection timing and frequency in accordance with ORC
3746.21. ‘
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Program Costs for Monitoring Compliance with this Agreement. TechSouth
Development Co., LLC agrees to reimburse Ohio EPA for the actual direct and
indirect costs incurred by the Ohio EPA in monitoring compliance with this
Agreement pursuant o ORC 3746.04(B)8) and OAC 3745-300-03(E)..

a. Ohio EPA will periodically submit to TechSouth Development Co., LLC an
itemized statement of its monitoring costs for the previous year(s).
Monitoring costs include, but are not limited to, costs for reviewing
submissions or reports required by this Agreement, conducting Property
inspections, and corresponding with the Volunteer or its representative.

b. Within thirty (30) days of receipt of such itemized statement, TechSouth
Development Co., LLC shall remit payment for all of Ohio EPA’s
monitoring costs for the previous year(s). If TechSouth Development Co.,
LLC disputes the accuracy of items on the itermized statement, a request
for review of the statement may be made within thirty (30) days of receipt
of the statement. After review, Ohio EPA will resubmit to TechSouth
Development Co., LLC an itemized statement with appropriate revisions.
TechSouth Development Co., LLC shall remit payment within fourteen
(14) days of receipt of the resubmitted statement.

c.  TechSouth Development Co., LLC shall remit payments to Ohio EPA
pursuant to this Section of the Agreement as follows:

i Payment shall be made by an official (or certified) check made
payable to “Treasurer, State of Ohio.” The official check shall be
submitted to Ohio EPA, Office of Fiscal Administration, P.O. Box
1049, 50 West Town Street, P.O. Box 1049, Columbus, Ohio
43216-1049.

ii. A copy of the transmittal letter and check shall be sent to the
Fiscal Officer, DERR, Ohio EPA, 50 West Town Street, P.O. Box
1049, Columbus, Ohio 43216-1049.

iii. A copy of the transmittal letter and check shall be sent to the
Program Manager of the Voluntary Action Program, DERR, Ohio
EPA, 50 West Town Street, P.O. Box 1049, Columbus, Ohio
43216-1049.

Termination. This Agreement shall terminate upon (a) revocation or voidance of
the Covenant, (b) a demonstration, in accordance with OAC 3745-300-11(D) and
Section 5 of the O&M Plan, that implementation of this Agreement and the O&M
Plan is no longer necessary for the Property to comply with applicable standards,
upon written acknowledgment by the Manager of the VAP of the demonstration,
or (c) otherwise upon the written approval of the Director of the Ohio EPA.
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Waiver. Owner agrees that the terms and conditions of this Agreement are
lawful and reasonable and agree to comply with this Agreement. Owner hereby
waives its right to appeal the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and hereby
waives any and all rights it might have 1o seek judicial or administrative review of
this Agreement either in law or equity. Owner reserves its right to participate in
any appeal by a third party o the Environmental Review Appeals Commission or
to any court.

Entire Agreement. The terms and conditions of this Agreement, including the
O&M Plan, constitute the entire agreement of the parties. No oral or written
representation shall be binding unless approved as a modification pursuant to the
Modification Section of this Agreement. The terms and conditions of this
Agreement shall be interpreted consistent with ORC Chapter 3746 and OAC
Chapter 3745-300.

Authorized Signatories. Each undersigned representative of a signatory to this
Agreement represents that he or she is fuily authorized fo execute this
Agreement and to legally bind such signatory to this Agreement.

Effective Date. Upon execution of this Agreement by all parties, this Agreement

shall be a valid and binding obligation enforceable in accordance with its terms
and conditions and effective upon the date of the Director's signature.

[Balance of the page intentionally left blank]



In witness whereof, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement.

TECHSOUTH DEVELOPMENT CO., LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company:

,I éﬂ/"g/’/\} Date: /2" 23 Oﬂ

C/Iﬁovnathan D. Coven, Vice-President

OHIO ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY:

By:@ w Date: izlj?a/’&c}

Chris Korleski
Director of Ohio EPA
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Property Legal Descriptions



ExHibit “A”
46.371 seore (¥act
TFast of Niheteenth Avenue, Westof Champion Avenue’®
North of Wobdrew Aveine, South of Frébis Avenie
City of Colurnbas, Ohie

Situated in the State of Ohio, Cify of Columbus, being a 46.371 acre tract eut of the lands
conveyed to TG707 Ine. i Instrument. Number 200511160242350, located in the “Bstate of
Williain Mesion, Décessed” Subdivision of record il Plat Book 17, Pages 256 thiough 260 of the
Becarder’s Office, Franklin County, Ohto {(further shovn and delingated upon Exhibit “B”

attached hereto and made a part hieseof), and being rhore particilarly deseribed a5 follows:

Beginning at a point 10 feet westerly of the =sou:thwest.eriy corner of Lot 358 of the: said
subdivision, and at the intersection of the northeily right-of-way line of Jenkins Avenue (50 feet
in widtli) and the easteily right-of-way lirie of 19 Strect (width varias)

Thence North 00 degrees 17 minutes 31 seconds West, along the easterly right-of-way line of
said 197 Sireet, a distancs of 269.23 {eet to a point at the intersection of the aforesaid easterly
right-of-way lne and the southerly right-ofsway Hite of Sheldon Avenue (50 feet in width;

Thenoe South 00 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds East,along thesatd sontherly right-of-way. line,
2 distance of 338.70 feet to 2 point in the westedy line of Lot A of the said subdivisiony

Thence North 00 degrees 36 gitnutes B2 seconds East, along the said westerly ling of Lot A-and
the easterty line of Lot 274, Lot 246, Lot 218, and Lot 190-of the said subdivision, a distance of
606 80 feet to a point at the northeastexly cornet of said Lot 190 and the northwesterly cotner of
caid Lot A and in the southesty right-of-way line of Frebis Avenue (50 feet in width);

Thesee South 89 degrees 58 minutes 26 ssconds Bast, along the said southerly tight-of-way lihe
of Frebis Avenue, a distance of 300.75 feet o a point ut the northeasterly corner of said Lot A
and the northwesterly cornerof Lot B-of the said subdivision;

Therice South 00 degiees 36 minutes 02 seconds West, Alofig the casterly line of said Lot A, the
westerly line 6fsaid Lot B and the westerly line of 4 tract of Tand conveyed 16 Developers Seven,
LLC., in Instrument Number 200202190044680, a distance of 674.85 feet to 4 point at the
southwesterly cormer of said Developers Seven, LLC. tract;

Thenee South 00 degrees 00 imifutes 00 seconds East, along the sotitherly ling of said
Developers Seven, LLC. tract, and through said Lot B, a distatiee of 316.92 feet to a polnt in the-
easterly line of said Lot B and the westerly line of the railread property (Penmsylvania Lines:
LLCY;

Thesice South 00 degrees 31 minutes 55 seconds West, along the casterly line of said Lot B, the
westerly litie of said railroad property, andiﬂiifau‘gil Jesldng Avenue, a distanice of 231.00 feet 0
apoint in the southerly right-of-way line of said Jenkins Avenuye;




Thence South 90 degrées 00 minutes 00 seconds Bast, along thie said southerly right-of-way line
of Tenkins. Avente and the northerty Jine of Lot I of suid subdivision, a distance of 455.56 feet fo
a pomt at the noerthwesterly corner of a tract of land conveyed to Nuwana Delong in Official
Record Velume 29592, Page D19;

Thenee South 00 degrees 26 minutes 34 seeonds West, along the westerly ling of said Delonig
tract, the westerly line of a tract of land conveyed to lacovette Holdings, LLE, in Instrument
Number 200007316150976 and the casterly line of said Lot I, a distance of 398.83 fecttoa point
af the northwesterly eotheh of Lot 16 of the Champion Avenie Terrace Addition eftgcerd in Plat
Book 20, Page 66; '

Thence South 89 degrees 59 minutes 1% seconds Bast; along the northerly ling of Lot 13 drough

Lot 16 {inclusive) of the aforesaid Addifion, a distance: of 196.97 feet to 2 peint: 4t the
northeasterly corner of said Lot 13 and the northwesterly corner of Lot 9 of said Additiong

Thence South 00 degrees 26 minutes 24 seconds: Bast, along the westerly ling of Lot 9 through
Lot 24 {inclusive] of the said Addition and fhrough Markison Avenug; a distance of 432,55 feet
to a point in the northerly line of Lot 25 of said Addition;

Thenve Notth 89 deprees. 59 minutes 36 seconds West, along the said notherly fine of Lot 25,
the nertherly line of Lot 17 of said Addition and the portherly line of a tract af land conveyed to
Ronald Reading in Instrument Number 200409010205349, a distance of 49.04-fect to a poeint;

Thetce South 00 degrees 26 minutes 34 seconds West, through Lot 17 of the ssid Addition and
along fie westetly Hine of said Reading tract, a distance of 110:29 fectto & point in the southetly
Jine of said Lot 17;

Thence North 89 degrees 59 nrimites 36 seconds West, alorig the said sputherly line of said Lot
17, a distanice of 50.88 feetto a poiny;

Thenee South 00 degrees 30 mimates 06 seconds West, along an easterly line of said TG707, ot
waet, 4 distance of 449.94 feet 1o a point;

Therice South 90 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds East, along & northerly line of said TG707, Ine.
tract, a distance of 72.45 feetto a pomnt in the westerly line ofa 16 foot wide alley:
Thefice South 00 degress 30 minttes 06 seconds West, along the Westerly line-of the said 16 foot
wide alley, a distance of 189.30 feet to & point at the novtheasterly corner of & tract of land
conveyed 1o Cra-Co lovestments, LLC. in Instrment Number 200502230032922;

Thenee North 90 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds West, along, the norfherly ling of said Cra-Co
liivestments, LLC. traet, a distance of 72.45 fect fo & point at the northwesterly eerner of said
Cra-Co Investments, LLC. tract;




Thence South 00 degrees 30 minutes 06 seconds West, along the westesly line of said Cra-Co
Investments, LLC. tract, a distance of 362.14. fest 1o a peint at-the southwesterly corner of said

Cra-Co Investments; LLC. trast and in the noitherly right=of-way line of Woodrew Avenue {30
feet in width)s

Thence Nortlr 89 degrees 47 minutes 03 seconds West; along the aforesaid northerly right-of-
way line, a distance of 524.59 feet to 2 point-at a southrwesterly corner of said TG707, Ins. tract.
and if the eastetly line of said railroad propeity|

Thetice North 00 degrees 31 rminvtes 55 seconds East, along the easterly line of said railroad
property and through said Mazkison Avepue, a distasce of 1,355.19 feet to & point at the
southwestetly corner of said Lot T in the northerly right-of-way line of said Markisen Avenue;

Thence North 89 degrees 59 minutes 36 seeonds West, along the noitherly right-of-way line of
e Markicon Aveme, through said railroad property and along the ¢ sutherly ling of Lot G -of
said “Estate of Willlam Merien, Deveased” Subdivision, 3 distance of 96327 feet to 2 point at
the imtersection of the said northerly right-ofiway line of Markisen Avenue and the easterly

right-of-way e of said 19™ Street;

Thenee North 00 degrees 17 minutes 31 seconds Besty slong: the aforesaid easterly right-of-way
line and the westerly line of Lt 495 and Lot 471 of the said “Bstate of William Merion,
Deceased” Subdivision,, a distanee of 34524 feet 1o 4 point at the southwesterly corner of Lot
447 of said sabdivision in the northerly line: of Southiwood Avenne (Vagate by ordinance #1508~
o93;

Thenee North 90 degrees 00 minuies B0 seconds West, along the northerly line of said vacated
Southwond Avenue, & distance of 10.00 feetto a point at the interseetion of the rertherly line of
said vacited Southwood Avénne and the easterly right-of-why ling of said 19" Avenue;

Thence North 00 degrees 17 mimates 31 seconds West, along the easterly line of said Nineteenth
Avenne, 4 distance of 111.97 feet to a poirt a4 the itersection of tlie southierly ling of a 16 foat
widé alley (vacated by ordinance #s 1932-95, 2176-78, and: 103-66) 4nd the easteily right-of-
way line of said 19% Avenve; "

Thence Seuth 90 degrees 00.minutes 00 seconds East, along the southerly line. of said vacate 16
foot wide alley and the northerly line oF Lot 447 throtigh Lot 452 (ibclusive) of said sulidivision,

s distance of 220.00 feet to 4 poini at the northsasterly sorner of the said Lot 452;

Thence South 60 degrees 17 minutes 31 seconds Fast, along the easterly line of said Lot 452, a
distance of 56.01 feet to a peint; '

Thence South 90 degress 00 minutes 00 seconds East, through Let 453 and Lot 454 of the said
subdivision, a distance of 70,34 feet to a point in'the easterly line of said Lot 454




Thence North 00 degrees 17 minutes 31 seconds West, alonig the easterly line of said Lot 454,
through aforesaid vacated 16 foot wide alley, along the easterly line of Lot 411, aud through said
Jenkins Avenue, a distance of 234.53 féét to a point at the southieasterly tomer of Lot 365 in the
said northerly right-6f«<vay line of Jenkins Avente;

Thence North 90 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds West, along fthe:said northerly right-of-way line
of Jenkins Avenue and the southerly line of Lot 358 through 365 (inclusive) of the said
sabdivision, a distarice 6 200.34 Téet to the Point of Beginning.

Comtaining 46.371 acres, mote or less, within Franklin County Auditor’s Parcel Numbers 010-
113409, 016-235706, 010-236033; 010-112267, 019-238865, 010-240950, 0106-050688, 010-
112837, and 010-112833,

Bxeepting there frorh all existing and valid roadway and/or iilway Hglts-of-way of record.
Al references herein aye to records in the Recorder’s Office, Franklin County, Ohio.

The basis of bearings for this desciiption is based on the, rigrtherly right-ofiway lise of Jenkifis
Avenue, being Nerth 90 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds West, as. deseribed in the deed conveyed
to TGQ707 [ne. in Instrument Number 200511160242350.

This description s based en record information only and is not to beé corstred ay a bousidary
survey as defined by the Mininum Standards for Boundaty Surveys set forth and deseribed in.
Ohio Revised Code 4733-37. This deseription is to be used for financial purposes only. This
ingtrument was prepared by Columbus Engineering:Consultants, Ine. in March 2007.

o westEbige Teay;
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Registered Professional Surveyor No. 7963 £
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O&M Plan



VOLUNTARY ACTION PROGRAM
OPERATION AND
MAXNTENANCE PLAN

FORMER TECHNEGLAS FACILITY
7277 EAST JENKINS AVENUE
COLUMBUS, FRANKLIN COUNTY, OHIO -

DECEMBER 2009

Prepared For:

TechSouth Development Co., LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company
¢/o Greystone & Company, Inc.
152 W. 57" Street
New York, New York 10019

Prepared By

HzW ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS, L1.C
6105 Heisley Road
Mentor, Ohio 44060
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1.0 INTRODUCTION

On behalf of TechSouth Development Co., LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company (“TechSouth”, and
the “Volunteer”), HzZW Environmental Consultants, LLC (HzW) has prepared this Voluntary Action Program
(VAP) Operation and Maintenance Plan (O&M) Plan in conformance with Olio Administrative Code (OAC)
Rule 3745-300-11 for the Former Techneglas, Inc. facility which has the street address of 727 East Jenkins
Avenue, Columbus, Franklin County, Ohio (the “Property”). This O&M Plan describes four (4) areas on the
Property subject {0 a permanent pavement engineering control to reliably prevent exposure of on-Property
commercial/industrial workers to concenirations of constituents of concern (COCs) in soil that exceed VAP
applicable standards. Since all these permanent engineering controls were not in place as of the date of the
submittal of the Addendum to the NFA. Letter for the Property, this O&M Plan also describes a teraporary
interim engineering control remedy (a fence) that will reliably prevent exposures of commercial/industrial
workers and/or the general public from areas subject to the permanent engineering controls. In addition, this
document describes a Risk Mitigation Plan (RMP) that has been put in place by the Volunteer to notify future
construction/excavation workers of the fact that certain soils on-Property contain concentrations of lead that
exceed the VAP Generic Direct Contact Standards (GDCS) for construction/excavation activities (750 mgke),
and describe appropriate work activities and personal profective equipment that will be implemented in the

event of construction or excavation activities in the three areas on-Property subject to the RMP.

The engineering controls described in this O&M Plan are subject to inspection/monitoring, Tepair, and

reporting requirements as outlined in this plan, so that these controls:

1. Maintain the Property-specific risk tevel for commercial/industrial land use, as set forth in a Phase It
Property Assessment report prepared by HzW in August 2009,

2. Fliminate or mitigate exposures to ail commercial/industrial receptors sufficient to meet risk goals and
continue compliance with VAP applicable standards;

3 Remain effective and reliable given the climactic conditions and commercial/industrial activities that
will occur at the Property; and

4. Aremaintained as contemplated under this O&M Plan until such time as the engineering conirols are

no longer required.

The RMP included as an attachment to this O&M Plan is subject to administration and enforcement by the

Volunteer so long as the.concentratiom of lead that exceed the VAP GDCS within the construction/excavation



activities point of compliance remain on the Property. Any excavation activity that removes or otherwise
eliminates the original concentrations of lead in soil that resulted in the necessity for the RMP is subject to
verification through confirmation sampling, and risk re-evaluation by a VAP Certified Professional, Ifitis
determined that the basis for original development of the RMP is no longer applicable due to subsequent
removal of the affected soils, the Volunteer will seek termination of the requirement for an RMP at the

Property from the Director of the Ohio Environmental Protection Agency (EPA).

The provisions of this O&M Plan will be subject to the terms of a separaie O&M Agreement between the
Vohnteer and the Ohio EPA. A draft O&M Agreement has been prepared by the Volunteer, and will be
executed by the Volunteer and the Ohio EPA upon determination by the agency that the Property, in fact,
meets applicable standards under the VAP, and that the engineering controls outlined in this Plan are

appropriate for the continued satisfaction of VAP applicable standards.

1.1. Synopsis of Property and Property History

The Property is comprised of eight (8) entire parcels, and a portion of a ninth parcel as described in the VAP
Phase 1 and Phase I Property Assessment reports. In aggregate, the Property consists of 46.371 acres of land,

a1l of which is currently owned by TechSouth.

The engineering controls and RMP are only applicable to portions of two of the parcels, specifically Permanent
Parcel Numbers (PPNs) 010-113409 and 010-112267. None of the activities described in this O&M Plan
apply to the seven additional parcels that comprise the Property. Further, it is emphasized that the engineering
controls and RMP are applicable to only portions of the two parcels listed above, not the two parcels in their

entirety.

PPN 010-113409 was developed at some point between 1900 and 1922 for the manufacture of glass bottles.
Glass manufacture of bottles and glass block continued until the advent of the television in the early 1950s. At
that time, PPN 010-113409 was converted for the manufacture of television picture tube components by
Kimball Glass Company, a subsidiary of the Owens-Tikinois Company. PPN 010-11 2267 was acquired by the
Kimball Glass Company in 1953, and was similarly used for industrial purposes associated with television
picture tube manufacture. The date of the first appearance of the name “Techneglas, Inc.” on tax maps and
city directories is May 1995. Techneglas, Inc. consolidated the remaining parcels that comprise the Property
between 1996 and 2000, and continued fhe manufacture of television picture tube assemblies on the Property

until August 2004,



The Property is situated in an area of mixed land use. Properties immediately east and southeast of the
Property are zoned for residential use, as are adjacent properties to the northwest. Properties to the southwest
are zoned as “Exempt” (primarily}, or commercial/industrial, Properties to the northeast and north are zoned
for industrial use, as are adjacent parcels to the south. For the purposes of the VAP the intended future land

use is commercial/industrial.

1.2. Previons Environmental Investigations

V AP-compliant Phase II Property Assessment activities were initiated by Malcolm Pirnie, Inc. (MPT) and
PANDEY Environmental, LLC (PANDEY})in 2005, and continued through 2007. HzW was retained in 2008,
and continued VAP Phase 1l assessment and remedial tasks through August 2009.

The MPI and PANDEY investigations indicated releases of COCs to environmental media in a variety of
locations around the Property. COCs detected in environmental media inchuded petroleum products, heavy

metals, and — to a lesser extent - chiorinated and non-chiorinated solvents.

HzW reviewed these previous investigation reports, and prepared a stand-alone VAP Phase 1 Property
Assessment report during 2009. Based upon all information collected, reviewed, and assimilated as part of the
Phase T Property Assessment, the Certified Professional determined that there were seventeen (17) separate
areas or features that satisfied the definition of an “identified area”. All seventeen (17) of these identified areas
were determined to be related to potential on-site source areas. The location of these identified areas is
depicted on figures in the VAP Phase I and Phase 11 Property Assessment reports. Alistofihe identified areas
is presented at the fop of the following page. The primary media of concern were soil and groundwater beneath

the Property. Indoor air was also considered a potentially impacted medium.

VAP Phase II Property Assessment data collection activities included sampling of soil in all on-Property
identified areas, and the sampling of groundwater n identified areas with a documented release o an
environmental medium. The results of soil sampling activities resulted in remedial efforts, which included the
excavation, removal and off-site disposal of over 2650 tons of soil from Identified Areas 2,3,4,6and 7, as

discussed in Section 5.6 of the Phase TI Property Assessment report.



| Identified Area Name
1 Ratch Yard/Forming Area
2 Former Chrome/Nickel Plating
3 MNorth Railroad Siding
4 South Railroad Sidng
5 Interior Railroad Sidings
6 Fuel Oil Spill Area
7 Cullet Storage Area #1
8 Historic Coal Yard and Print Shop
9 Earthen Berms
10 Sheldon Warehouses Area
11 UFO Building UST
i2 RCRA Accumulation Areas (Four Inactive/Closed; One Active)
13 Cullet Storage Area #2
14 Historic PCB Spill Area
15 Woodrow Avenue Drum Spill Area
16 Abandoned Fuel Line Chase
17 North Jenkins Lot

1.3. Applicable Standards

A VAP No Further Action (NFA) Letter has been prep ared for the Property, which indicates that the site meets

VAP applicable standards. The applicable standards at the Property may be subdivided imto five categories:

Al

VAP GDCS or Supplemental Risk-Derived Values (SRDV) for commercial/industrial land
use. GDCS are published in OAC 3745-300-08. The SRDV (also referred to as
“Supplemental Values”) were derived by VAP staff for use by Volunteers through Technical
Assistance, or ether non-Property specific risk assessment procedures. The SRDV were
provided to the Certified Professional by the Ohio EPA in February 2007.

VAP GDCS or SRDV for construction/excavation activities. Again, GDCS are publisied m
OAC 3745-300-08, and the SRDV for this pathway were provided to the Certified
Professional by the Ohio EPA in February 2007,

Property-specific vapor intrusion carcmogenic risk factors and hazard indices determined
through application of the Johnson & Ettinger (J&E) model.

A demonstration that groundwater which either currently exceeds VAP Generic Unrestricted
Potable Use Standards (GUPUS), Risk-Derived Generic Unrestricted Potable Use Standards
(RDGUPUS), or Supplemental Unrestricted Potable Use Values (SUPUV) do not pose arisk
to potable or non-potable off-Property receptors, based upon a Class B demonstration for the

uppermost saturated zone and an evaluation of the particular COCs and their possible effect
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on non-potable receptors. The Class B demonstration was made in the Addendum to the NFA
Letter, and is not discussed further in this O&M Plan, since none of the remedies described in
this document are intended to evaluate the migration of COCs in groundwater toward non-
potable receptors.

E. Compliance with the same Yimits for those hazardous substances or petroleum that were
investigated and remediated as part of this VAP action, as set forth in NPDES Permit
AINODO32*ND for the discharge of stormwater from the Property, which are incorporated by

reference.

Tt has been determined that VAP applicable standards have been met for those exposure pathways that are
complete on the Property. Certain institutional and engineering controls have been relied on to render certain
exposure pathways incompiete. VAP regulations state that if an engineering control is used to render an
exposure pathway incomplete, a VAP O&M Plan is required to maintain the inteerity of the engineering

conirol.

The categories of exposed populations subject to an engineering control or an RMP are discussed in the

following subsections.
1.3.1  On-Property Commercial/Industrial Workers, Visitors, and Trespassers

Exposure of on-Property commercial/industrial workers, visitors, and trespassers {0 COCs.in affected media
was evaluated through multiple chemical adjustments (MCAs) presented in the VAP Phase Il Property
Assessment. In summary, workers, visitors and trespassers on the Property are protected relative to the soil
direct contact pathway to a depth of two (2) feet below ground surface, bearing in mind the presence of a the
temporary interim engineering control and the permanent pavement engineering conirols on foﬁr portions of

the Property.
1.3.2  Future Construction and Excavation Workers

Separate MCAs were prepared for future construction/excavation activities, specifically related to the soil
direct contact pathway to a depth of up to 10 feet below existing ground surface. These MCAs, which were
included in the VAP Phase II Property Assessment, indicate that the Property meets applicable standards for
future construction and excavation workers relative to the soil direct contact pathway, bearing in mind the
existence of a RMP which is applicable to three areas on the Property.
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1.4. Summary of Institutional and Engineering Controls

Upon completion of all Phase II as sessment and remedial activities, the Certified Professional concluded that
the Property met VAP applicable standards for a commercial/industrial land use and construction/excavation
activities. Several institutional controis were relied upon to eliminate a potential exposure pathway. All these
are outlined in a draft environmental covenant (included as part of the VAP NFA Letter Form for the Property,
and not included in this O&M Plan), and included:

¢ A restriction that the Property will be used for commercial/industrial purposes;

¢ A restriction against the exiraction of groundwater on-Property for any purpose other than monitoring;

and

& A future building use restriction in Identified Area 1 and a portion of Identified Area 8.

In addition to the institutional controls discussed above, the Certified Professional relied upon permanent
pavement engineering controls in four areas to eliminate the soil direct contact pathway for
commercial/industrial land use on the Property. In that all pavement engineering controls were not in place as
of the date of the Addendum to the VAP NFA Letter, the temporary interim engineering control {fence) was
deployed to restrict access 1o those areas subject to a permanent pavement engineering control. These

temporary interim and permanent engineering controls are the basis for this VAP O&M Plan.

Attachment 1 to this O&M Plan is a map showing the location of institutional and engineering controls
(temporary interim and permanent) for the Property. In viewing Attachment 1, it should be bome in mind that
the entire Property is subject to the commercialindustrial land use restriction, and the restriction against the
extraction of groundwater for any purpose other than monitoring. The future building use restriction applies to
the “2.633 Acre Easement” (Identified Area 1) and the “0.519 Acre Easement” (a portion of Identified Area 8).
All four “easements” shown are subject to pavement engineering controls, as discussed below. The location
of the temporary interim engineering control is also shown on Attachment 1. The RMP is applicable to the
1 633 Acre Easement” (Identified Area 1), the “1.1 50 Acre Easement” (which includes Identified Area 7),
and the “0.519 Acre Easement” (a portion of Identified Area 8).

The temporary interim and permanent pavement engineering controls are summarized below, and described m

greater detail in Section 2.0 of this O&M Plan.



¢ Temporary Interim Engineering Control (F ence)

In that the permanent pavement engineering controls were not yet in place in a portion of Identified Area 1 and
all of Identified Arcas 6, 7 and 8 at the time of the Addendum to the NFA Letter, a temporary interim
engineering conirol (2 6-foot high chain link fence) was erected on a portion of the Property to prevent soil
direct contact with the COCs listed below for the permanent pavement engineering controls for
commercial/industrial workers, trespassers, and other visitors to the Property. The purpose of the temporary
interim engineering control is to prevent access to areas of affected soils that exceed VAP applicable standards
for the soil direct contact pathway. The area encompassed by the temporary interim engineering control is also

subject to the RMP.
¢ Pavement Engineering Control, Identified Area 1

A concentration of benzo(a)pyrene (41.0 milligrams per kilogram (mg/kg}) that exceeded the VAP GDCS for
commercial/industrial land use (7.7 mg/ke) was detected ina soil sample collected from the 0-2 foot depth
interval by PANDEY in 2006. Furthermore, all of 1dentified Area 1 was historically used in the handling of
raw materials containing lead that were used in glass manufacture. Since the area was subject to paving as part
of improvements to the former main manufacturing building, the Volunteer opted to consider all of Identified
Area 1 subiect to a pavement engineering control remedy. The purpose of this en gineering control is to
prevent direct contact with these soils by commercial/industrial persormel who work at the Property. Thisarea

is also subject to an RMP.

¢ Pavement Engineering Control, Identified Area 2

Following remedial activities in Tdentified Area 2, concentrations of arsenic in two of the confirmatory wall
samples exceeded the VAP single-chemical GDCS for commercial/industrial land use (82 mg/kg). With one
exception, the detected concentrations of arsenic in other confirmatory wall samples from Identified Area 2
were in excess of 50.0 mg/kg, and would therefore result in the Property-wide MCA for soil direct contact in
the commercial/industrial point of compliance interval (0-2 feet) to exceed VAP applicable standards. Based
upon these findings, fhe Volunteer opted to rely upon a pavement engineering control to eliminate the
commercial/industrial soil direct contact exposure pathway in Identified Area 2. As stated in the VAP Phase I

Property Assessment report, an RMP is not necessary for this area.



¢ Povement Engineering Control, Identified Areas 6 and 7

Following remedial activities in Identified Areas 6 and 7, 2 concentration of benzo{a)pyrene (6.2 mg/kg)
remained in soil within the 0-2 foot commercial/industrial direct contact interval in Identified Area 6 that, when
factored into a Property-wide MCA, would result in an exceedance of VAP applicable standards. Further,
following remedial activities in Tdentified Area 7, a concentration of lead (3700 mg/kg) was detected in one of
the confirmatory soil samples collected from a depth of 1.5 feet below ground surface. This concentration
exceeds the VAP GDCS for lead for both commercial/industrial Iand use and construction/excavation
activities. As a resuit, the Volurteer opted to rely upon 2 pavement engineering control fo address
commercial/industriel soil direct contact in Identified Areas 6 and 7. In addition, Tdentified Area 7 wouid be
subject to an RMP, while Identified Area 6 does not require an RMP. However, in that only one legal
description was prepared for these two contiguous areas, it is understood that the entire area indicated in the

legal description for Tdentified Areas 6 and 7 is subject to an RMP.

¢ Pavement Engineering Control, Identified Area 8

Eight (8) of thirty-four (34) soil samples collected by PANDEY and/or MPI in Identified Area 8 exceeded the
VAP GDCS for lead for construction/excavation activities, while three (3) of the samples collected from the 0-
2 foot depth interval exceeded the commercial/industrial land use GDCS. Therefore, the Certified Professional
concluded that lead concentration within the both the commercial/industrial and construction/ excavation
activities points of compliance exceeded VAP applicable standards in Identified Area 8. Given these data, the
Certified Professional concluded that Identified Area 8 would be subjecttoa pavement engineerng control to
prevent soil direct contact with lead within the commercial/industrial pomnt of compliance interval. This area 18

also subject to an RMP.
¢ RMP

Concenirations of lead within the 0-10 foot construction/excavation activities point of compliance exceeded
the VAP GDCS of 750 mg/kg in Identified Areas 1, 7 and 8. As stated above, since Identified Areas 6 and 7
are contiguous and were described as one unit for the purposes of a pavement engineering control, Identified
Area 6 is also subject to an RMP, although soils within Identified Area 6 were factored into the overall
construction/excavation activities MCAs for the Property which met VAP risk requirements. The purpose of
the RMP is to provide notification to prospective construction/excavation workers in these two areas of the
presence of arsenic concentrations that exceed the VAP GDCS, and to outline precautionary measures that

must be undertaken for any construction/excavation activities in these two areas.
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2.0 ENGINEERING CONTROLS

As stated above, temporary interim and perman ent pavement engineering controls were relied upon in portions
of the Property to mitigate commercial/industrial soil direct contact risk. All permanent pavement engineering
controls are intended to mitigate risks posed fo commercial/industrial workers, visitors or trespassers 1o the
Property. The femporary interim engineering control {a fence) is intended to mitigate risks posed to
commercial/industrial workers, visitors or trespasscrs until such time as the permanent pavement engineering
controls are in place for the entire Property. The purpose of the RMP is to mitigate risks posed to future

construction or excavation workers.

2.1, Engineering Controls for Commercial/Industrial Workers, Visitors, and Trespassers

Four areas on the Property are subject to engineering controls to prevent exposure to COCs by

commercial/industrial workers, visitors, 01 Hespassers {0 the site. These engineering controls are:

2.1.1 Temporary Interim Engineering Control, Portion of Identified Area 1 and all of Identified
Areas 6, 7 and 8

A temporary interim engineering control remedy (a 6-foot high chain link fence) has been erected in those
portions of the Property where permanent engineering controls were not in place as of the date of the
Addendum to NFA Letter. The purpose of this temporary interim engineering control remedy 18 fo prevent soil
direct contact by commercial/industrial workers, visitors and trespassers from concentrations of COCs that
exceeded VAP GDCS until such time as permanent pavement engineering controls are inplace. The location
of the temporary interim engineering contrel remedy relative to the permanent pavement en gineering controls

not yet instalied in included on Attachment 2.
2.1.2 Pavement Engineering Control, Identified Area I

The majority of the pavement engineering control in Identified Area 1 has already been deployed. The
pavement engineering control in this portion of the Property will be installed north of the former main
manufacturing building in Identified Area 1 to prevent commercial/industrial workers, visitors, or trespassers
from direct contact exposure to soil within the identified area. The plat and legal description of the pavement
engineering control in Identified Area 1 prepared by a Professional Surveyor licensed in the State of Ohio (and
referred to by the surveyor as a “‘pavement easement™) is included as Attachment 3,
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The pavement in this area will consist of 6-inch thick concrete. The concrete will be new, and will be installed
by June 1, 2010. In that it will be new concrete, there will be no significant cracks, man-ways, or other access
points through the pavement that would provide an exposure point through the paverment to the underlying
soil. As a result, the pavement in this area 18 a reliable means to prevent exposure 1o underlying soils by
commercial/industrial workers, visitors, and trespassers to the Property. The pavement engineering control
shall be maintained such that a minimum of 4 inches of concrete remains in the area described in Attachrment 3

until such time as the termination criteria relative to this engineering control have been achieved.

2.1.3  Pavement Engineering Conirol, Identified Area 2

This pavement engineering control is already in place, and was installed inside the former main manufacturing
building in Identified Area 2 to prevent commercial/industrial workers, visitors, or {respassers from direct
contact exposure to soil within the identified area. The plat and legal description of the pavement engineering
control in Identified Area 2 prepared by a Professional Surveyor licensed in the State of Ohio (and referred to

by the surveyor as a “pavement easement”) is included as Attachment 4.

The pavement in this area consists of 6-inch thick concrete. The concrete is new, and there are no significant
cracks, man-ways, or other access points through the pavement that provide an exposure point through the
pavement to the underlying soil. As aresult, the pavement in this area isa reliable means fo prevent exposure
1o underlying soils by commercial/industrial workers, visitors, and trespassers to the Property. The pavement
engineering control shall be maintained such that a minimum of 4 inches of concrete remains in the area
described in Attachment 4 until such time as the termrination criteria relative to this engineering control have

been achieved.

2.1.4 Pavement Engineering Control, Hdentified Areas 6 and 7

A pavement engineering control will be installed east of the former main manufacturing building in Identified
Areas 6 and 7 to prevent comimercial/industrial workers, visitors, or trespassers from direct contact exposure to
soil within the identified area. The platand legal description of the pavement engineering conirol in Identified
Areas 6 and 7 prepared by a Professional Surveyor licensed in the State of Ohio (and referred to by the

surveyor as a “pavement easement”) is included as Attachment 5.
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The pavement in this area will consist of 3-inch thick asphalt or 6-inches of concrete in certain areas. The
majority of the paverment m this area is existing, and is typical of industrial sites. However, there are 1o cracks
or gouges in existing pavements that would result in a breach of the pavement en gineering control (defined in
Section 3.2 as cracks greater than %2 inch in width or which fully penetrate the pavement control, fissures, or
depressions in the cover), assuming a commercial/industrial land use. Any new pavement in this area wili
consist of asphalt (3-inches thick), and will not have significant cracks, man-ways, of other access points
through the pavement that would provide an exposure point through the pavement to the underlying soil. Asa
result, the pavement engineering control in this area will be a reliable means to prevent exposure 1o underlying
soils by commercial/industrial workers, visitors, and trespassers to the Property. The pavement engineering
control shall be maintained such that a minimum of 3 inches of hard surface pavement (asphalt or concrete)
remains in the area described in Attachment 5 until such time as the termination criteria relative to this

engineering control have been achieved.

2.1.5 Pavement Engineering Control, Identified Area 8

A pavement engineering control will be installed northeast of the former main manufacturing building
Identified Area 8 to prevent commercial/industrial workers, visitors, or trespassers from direct contact exposure
to soils within the identified area. The plat and legal description of the pavement engineering control in
Identified Area & prepared by a Professional Surveyor licensed in the State of Ohio (and referred fo by the

surveyor as a “pavement easement”) is included as Attachment 6.

The pavement in this area will consist of 3-inch thick asphalt or 6-inches of concrete in certain areas. Some of
the pavement in this area s existing, and consists of concrete typical of industrial sites. However, there are no
cracks or gouges in existing pavements that would result in a breach of the pavement engineering control
(defined in Section 3.2 as cracks greater than % inch in width or which fully penetrate the pavement control,
fissures, or depressions in the cover), assuMming & commercial/indusirial land use. Anynew pavement 1n this
area will consist of asphalt (3-inches thick), and will not have significant cracks, man-ways, Or other access
points through the pavement that would provide an exposure point through the pavement to the underlying
soil. As a result, the pavement engineering control in this area will be a reliable means to prevent exposure 0
underlying soils by commercial/industrial workers, visitors, and trespassers o the Property. The pavement
engineering control shall be maintained such that a minimum of 3 inches of hard surface pavement {(asphalt or
concrete) remains in the area described in Attachment 6 until such time as the termination criteria relative to

this engineering control have been achieved.
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2.2, RMTP for Future Construction and Excavation Workers

The RMP identifies risk mitigation measures {0 be administered by the Volunteer and implemented in order for
the Property to remain in compliance with VAP applicable standards for construction and excavation activities.
The RMP is necessary in that three areas on the Property (Identified Area 1 - refer to Attachment 3; Identified
Areas 6 and 7 - refer to Attachment 5; and Tdentified Area 8 —refer to Attachment 6) contained concentrations
of lead in soil within the construction/excavation activities soil direct contact point of compliance that
exceeded VAP applicable standards. Plats and legal descriptions for the threc areas subject to an RMP were

infroduced in earlier sections, and are included in Attachments 3, 5 and 6, respectively.

The RMP itseif is included in Attachment 7. The RMP contains sections that outline:

The purpose of the RMP

(COCs at the Property and in the areas subject to the RMP

The primary routes of exposure t0 COCs (in this case, lead)

A description of the precautionary measures to prevent exposure

Actions to be taken in the event that significant eXposure 0cCurs

The methods for handling soils during excavation activities (including pavement restoration all areas)
Notification procedures to construction/excavation workers

Responsibilities for administering and implementing the RMP

Notification requirements of the Volunteer to the Obio EPA

Termination criteria for the RMP

& > @ * ¢ S & & ¢ &

Included as attachments to the RMP are the same plats and legal descriptions in Attachments 3,5 and 6 in this
O&M Plan, to describe the locations on the Property subject to the RMP.
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3.0 NORMAL OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF ENGINEERING CONTROLS

The Property is considered to satisfy applicable standards when the pavement engineering controls described in
Section 2.0 are not breached. The following sections prescribe the inspection, reporting, and response
procedures necessary to ensure that temporary interim and permanent pavement engineering controls employed

at the Property are adequate to maintain compliance with applicable standards.

The RMP is not subject to inspection, and is not discussed below. Rather, the RMP is subject to
administration (notification and reporting) and enforcement (evaluating compliance with the provisions of the

RMP by construction/excavation workers) by the Volunteer.

3.1, Schedule of Inspection Events

Scheduled inspections of the temporary interim engineering control will occur monthly. The scheduled
inspections shall commence 30 days after the execution of the O&M Agreement, and continue on a monthly
basis until such time as the temporary interim engineering control is no longer necessary (i.e., the permanent
pavement enginecring controls are in place). Unscheduled periodic inspections may be conducted at any time,
but are required to be conducted when the Volunteer (or subsequent owner of the Property) or his designated
representative knows, or has reason to know, or a breach in the temporary interim engineering contro} relied
upon at the Property. Periodic inspections may vary in thoroughness from partial to complete ingpection.
Scheduled and unscheduled periodic inspection events shall be conducted in accordance with the procedures

described in Sections 3.2 and 3.3 of this Q&M Plan.

Scheduled inspections of the pavement engineering controls shall occur semi-anmually. The scheduled
inspections shall occur in the spring (April or May) and auturmn (October or November) of each calendar vear.
Scheduied inspections of the pavement engineering controls shall not be conducted when snow cover,
vehicles, or materials are stockpiled in a manner that could interfere with identification of breaches in the

pavement engineering control.

Unscheduled periodic inspections may be conducted at any time, but are required to be conducted when the
Volunteer (or subsequent owner of the Property) or his designated representative knows, or has reason to
know, of a breach of any pavement en gineering control relied upon at the Property. Periodic inspections may

vary in thoroughness from partial to complete inspection. Scheduled and unscheduled periodic inspection

13



events shall be conducted in accordance with the procedures described in Sections 3.2 and 3.3 of this O&M

Plan.

3.2, Inspection of Engineering Controls

Physical inspection of the interim temporary engineering control 1 necessary 10 ensure that the fence 1s
meeting its stated purpose. The purpose of the physical inspections is to note the presence of any areas of
damage or breaches that would compromise the integrity of the fence to prevent access to the area by
commercial/industrial workers, visitors, and frespassers. A breach would be a missing or unsecured fence
section, broken mesh, gaps, or other holes in the fence that would permit access to the area without physically

scaling the fence.

Similarly, visual inspections at the Property are necessary to-ensure that the pavement engineering controls
meet their stated purpose. The purpose of the visual inspections is to note the presence of any areas of damage

and/or breaches that may compromise the integrity of a pavement engineering control at the Property.

The areas to be inspected during all scheduled (monthly and semi-annual) inspections shall include the
temporary interim and permanent pavement engineering controls shown or legally described in Attachments 2
through 6. Breaches of the pavement engineering control include, but are not limited to, any indication of
disintegration, deterioration, or degradation which compromises the structural integrity of the cover {e.g.,
cracks greater than ¥ inch in width or which fully penetrate the pavement control, fissures, or depressions in

the cover).

3.3 Inspection Responses

3.3.1 Scheduled Inspections

During scheduled inspections conducted in accordance with Sections 3.1 and 3.2, any and all breaches in the
temnporary interim or pavement engineering controls (a “breach” is defined in Section 3.2) shall be detailed on
Form 1 {(Attachment 8). Each scheduled inspection shall include the day and time of the inspection, the area

inspected, and the person perforning the inspection.
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3.3.2  Periodic Unscheduled Inspections

Periodic unscheduled inspections which reveal a breach of a femporary interim or permanent pavement
engineering control or viclation of an mstitutional control may also be documented on a completed Form 1,
depending upon the thoroughness of the unscheduled inspection conducted. As with scheduled inspection
reports, the Volunteer {or Property owner, if the Property is transferred) shall submit these on an annual basis

to the Director of the Ohio EPA, and retain copies of these inspection records for a period of five (5) vears.

3.3.3 Response Actions

If, during any inspection (scheduled ox unscheduled), a breach is identified, the breach area shall be physically
marked (e.g., circled with spray paint and/or barricaded) and shall remain marked until such time as the

necessary repairs are made in accordance with Section 4.0 of this O&M Plan.

34 Reporting and Records Retention

The Volunteer (or Property owner, if the Property is transferred) shall maintain completed originals of Form 1,
and submit these on an annual basis to the Director of the Ohio EPA or his designated representative along
with a compilation of the Monthly Operating Report information submitted to the Ohio EPA, Division of
Surface Water for NPDES Permit No, 4INO0032*ND. The Volunteer (or Property owner) shall retain copies

of inspection records for a period of five (5) years.

4.0 REPAIR OF ENGINEERING CONTROLS

This section describes the requirements for (1) the repair of a temporary interim engineering control
undertaken in response to the requirements of Section 3 3.3 of this O&M Plan, (2) the repair of any pavement
engineering control undertaken in response to the requirements of Section 3.3.3 of this O&M Plan; and (3) the
restoration of any engineering control when the engineering control is purposefully compromised by

construction activities.
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4.1, Repairs Required by Inspection

Any breach and/or damage to a temporary interim engineering control remedy shall be rep aired promptly, but
no later than fifteen (15) days from the discovery of the breach. Appropriate methods of repair include all
methods which restore the ability of the temporary interim engineering control to fuifill the objectives
described in Section 2.0 of this O&M Plan. Appropriate methods of repair include, but are not limited to,
replacement of damaged fence sections, re-wiring/re-securing fence sections to each other, or any other means
by which any breached pavement engineering control is restored to meet the criteria in Section 2.0 of this

O&M Plan to prevent access by commercial/industrial workers to the area indicated on Attachment 2.

Any breach or damage to a permanent pavement engineering control shall be repaired promptly, but no later
than 60 days from discovery of the breach. The timing of repairs may be subject to favorable weather and/or
constructlon conditions. Appropriate methods of repair include all methods which restore the ability of any
pavement engineering control Appropriate methods of repair include, but are not limited to, patching or
replacement of the pavement engineering control,. Replacement of a pavement engineernng control with an
alternative engineering control not consistent with the Jegally described boundaries is prohibited, unless this

O&M Plan is modified.

The Volunteer (or the Property owner, if the Property is transferred) shall identify (on Form 1 in the case ofa
scheduled or unscheduled inspection) the date of completion of each repair and, if not repaired as of the date of

Form 1 completion (in the case of a scheduled, semi-annual mspection), an estimated date of completion.

All measures taken and work performed during repair of those pavement engineering controls described m

Sections 2.1.1, 2.1.3 and 2.1.4 shall comply with the requirements of the RMP in Attachment 6.

4.2. Protection of On-Site Workers, Visitors and Trespassers to the Site During Repair Activities

During any repair to a breach in a permanent pavement engineering control that will require 30 or more daysto
effect, the Volunteer (or Property owner, if the Property is transferred) or its designated representative shall
ensure that workers, visitors, and trespassers at the Property are not exposed to soils which, either individually
or in combination, exceed VAP commercial/industrial GDCS or otherwise exceed an applicable standard.
Such precautions may include fencing, security guards, and other precautions necessary to effectively and
reliably limit exposure in the same manner provided by the engineering control. The Volunteer or Property

owner must document the interim steps taken on Form 1.
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4.3. Post-Repair Inspection

All repairs fo a temporary interim engineering control in accordance with Section 4.1 shall be inspected within
fifteen (15) days of the discovery of the breach to ensure that the temporary interim engineering controls
employed at the Property have been restored to meet the requirements of Section 2.0 of this O&M Plan.
Similarly, all repairs to a pavement engineering control in accordance with Sections 4.1 and 4.2 shall be
inspected within 30 days after completion of the repair event, to ensure that all pavement engineering controls
employed at the Property have been restored to meet the requirements of Section 2.0 of this O&M Plan. A
report of all post repair inspection results shall be attached to the completed Form 1. At a minimum,

documentation must include:

A Tdentification of the repair event;

B. Beginning and ending dates of the event (for a repair, the date of the inspection which
identified the breach, and date of the repair); and

C. A summary of the repair activities.

4.4. Reporting and Records Retention

The Volunteer (or Property owner, if the Property is transferred) shall maintain completed originals of Form 1
documenting any repairs undertaken during the year (and post-repair inspection reports), and submit these on
an annual basis to the Director of the Ohio EPA or his designated representative. The Volunteer (or Property

owner) shall retain copies of repair (and post-repair inspection) records for a period of five (5} years.

4.5 Records Destruction

Prior to the destruction of any inspection documents, the Volunteer (or Property owner, if the Property is
transferred) shail notify the Director of the Ohio EPA by Certified Mail of its intent to destroy the documents.
‘The Property owner shall provide Ohio EPA a time period of 90 days during which the Ohio EPA may notify
the Volunteer or Property owner by Certified Mail of its intent to obtain and retain such documents. If the
Ohio EPA notifies the Volunteer or Property owner of its intent to obtain and retain the documents, the Ohio
EPA shall arrange for the transfer of such documents from the Volunteer or Property owner within a time

period not to exceed 90 days from the date of receipt of the notice from the Volunteer or Property owner.
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5.0 TERMINATION CRITERIA
5.1 Temporary Interim Engineering Controls

The termination criteria for a temporary interim engineering controls on the Property are as foliow:

& Placement of the permanent engineering controls in the legally described areas outlined in this O&M
Plan.

¢ A change in the point of compliance such that the placement of a permanent pavement engineering
control is no longer required to satisfy commercial/industrial Jand use applicable standards for soil
direct contact. Ohio EPA concurrence with the revised point of compliance would be required prior to
termination of anry of the provisions outlined in this 0O&M Plan.

¢ Removal from the Property or the point of compliance of those soils that currently exceed the VAP
GDCS for benzo{a)pyrene or lead for commercial/industrial land use. For this termination criterion to
be satisfied, the Volunteer (or Property owner if the Property is transferred) must: 1) document the
removal of al! soils necessary for the site to meet applicable standards absent the engineering control;
2) document the proper removal and disposal of the soils from the Property and/or point of
compliance; and 3) demonstrate (through submittal of a revised cumulative MCA. for
commercial/industrial land use) that the Property meets commercial/industrial VAP applicable
standards. Ohio EPA concuirence with the appropriate rernoval from the Property or the point of
compliance of the soils currently proposed for placement beneath a permanent pavement engineering
control would be required prior to termination of any of the provisions outlined in this O&M Plan.

¢ Another termination criterion mutually agreed upon by the Volunteer (or the Property owner, if the
Property is transferred) and the Ohio EPA, as outlined in the O&M Agreement.

5.2 Pavement Engineering Control(s)

The termination criteria for any pavement engineering control on the Property are as follow:

¢ A change in the point of compliance (e.g., the addition of fill) in the area of a pavement engineering
conirol such that the pavement engineering control is no longer required to satisfy
commercial/industrial land use applicable standards for soil direct contact. Ohio EPA concurrence
with the revised point of compliance would be required prior to termination of any of the provisions
outlined in this O&M Plan. '

¢ Removal from the Property or the point of compliance of those soils that currently exceed the VAP
GDCS for benzo(a)pyrene, arsenic or lead for commercial/industrial land use. For this termination
criterion to be satisfied, the Volunteer (or Property owner if the Property is transferred) must: 1)
document the removal of all soils necessary for the site to meet applicable standards absent the
engineering control; 2) document the proper removal and disposal of the soils from the Property
and/or point of compliance; and 3) demonstrate (through submittal of a revised cumulative MCA for
commercial/industrial land use) that the Property meets commercial/industrial VAP applicable
standards. Ohio EPA concurrence with the approprate removal from the Property or the point of
compliance of the soils currently beneath the pavement engineering control would be required prior to
termination of any of the provisions outlined in this O&M Plan.

¢ Another termination criterion mutually agreed upon by the Volunteer (or the Property owner, if the
Property is transferred) and the Ohio EPA, as outlined in the O&M Agreement.

Until such time as one of these termination criteria are satisfied and writien concurrence received from the
Ohio EPA, the terms of this O&M Plan will remain in full force and effect relative to the pavement

engineering controls.
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5.3 RMP

The termination criteria for the RMP on the Property are as follow:

¢ Removal from the Property or the point of compliance of those soils that currently exceed the VAP
GDCS for lead for construction/excavation activities. For this termination criterion to be satisfied, the
Volunteer (or Property owner if the Property is transferred) must: 1) document the removal of all soils
necessary for the site to meet applicable standards absent the RMP: 2) document the proper removal
and disposal of the soils from the Property and/or construction/excavation activities point of
compliance; and 3) demonsirate (through submittal of a revised MCA for soil direct contact for
construction/excavation activities) that the Property meets construction/excavation activity VAP
applicable standards. Ohio EPA concurrence with the appropriate removal from the Property or
construction/excavation activities point of compliance of soils that result in the need for an RMP
would be required prior to termination of any of the provisions outlined in this O&M Plan.
s Another termination criterion mutually agreed upon by the Volunteer (or the Property owner, if the
Property is transferred) and the Ohio EPA, as outlined in the O&M Agreement.
Until such time as one of these termination eriterion is satisfied and written concurrence received from the

Ohio EPA, the terms of the executed O&M Agreement will remain in full force and effect relative to the RMF.

5.4 Reporting Requirements Regarding NPDES Permit Information

The termination criteria for annual reporting of a summary of the information contained in the Monthly

Operating Reports for NPDES Permit No. 4IN00032*ND shall be the termination of the NPDES Permit.

Until such time as one of this termination criterion is satisfied and written concurrence received from the Ohio
EPA, the terms of the executed O&M Agreement will remain in full foree and effect relative to compliance

with the reporting requirements.

6.0 O&M AGREEMENT

As stated above, the provisions of this O&M Plan will be subject to the terms of a separate O&M Agreement
between the Volunteer and the Ohio EPA. A draft O&M Agreement is included in Attachment 9, The
language and provisions of the final O&M Agreement will be negotiated between the Volunteer and the Ohio
EPA upon determination by the agency that the Property, in fact, meets applicable standards under the VAP,
and that the pavement engineering controls outtined in this Plan (and the RMP attached to this O&M Plan) are

appropriate for the continued satisfaction of VAP applicable standards.
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70  COMPLIANCE WITH OAC 3745-300-11(D)(1)(d)

OAC 3745-300-11(DX1)d) indicates that if a Volunteer invokes 2 2-foot point of compliance for
commercial/industrial activities, an elevation survey map of the Property be prepared and submitted as part of
the VAP No Further Action (NFA) Letter. Since the invocation of a 2-foot point of compliance is considered
an “institutional control” under the VAP, this elevation survey map is included as an attachment to the VAP

O&M Plan. This sarvey map of the Property at a contour interval of 2-feet is included as Attachment 10.
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ATTACHMENT 1
PROPERTY MAP SHOWING LOCATION OF INSTITUTIONAL AND ENGINEERING
CONTROLS
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ATTACHMENT 2
MAP SHOWING LOCATION of TEMPORARY INTERIM ENGINEERING CONTROL
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ATTACHMENT 3
PLAT AND LEGAL DESCRIPTION FOR PAVEMENT ENGINEERING CONTROL,
IDENTIFIED AREA 1
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PAVEMENT EASEMENT
2.633 ACRES

Situmted in the Siate of Ohis, County of Franklin, City of Columbus, lying ia Lots G, B and 1 of “Flat of the
Estate of Whi Merion Dec'd.®, of recerd in Plat Book 17, Pages 256 - 260, being & strip of Tend on, over, and across
the tract conveyed 10 Techsouth Development Co. LLC by deed of record in Tnstrument Hamber 200506240060921,
(il references are to the records of the Recorder’s Office, Prinidin County, Ohin} and beipg more particulady
deenribed 23 follows:

Beginning for reference, at a 1 inch fron pipe found the intersection of the southerly right-of-way linc of
Jenlcns Avenue sad the westerly tight-of-way line of Champion Avenue being the northeesierly comer of fot
mamber 1 of “Champion Ave, Terrace A4 of record in Plat Book 20, Page i1

Thenee North 86° 117 41" West, with the southeddy right-of-way line of Jeakins Ave, & distance of 78370
foet, to a point op an casterdy fine of said Techsouth Development Co, LLC tract and on the westerly Hine of the tract
conveyed 1o The Toledo & Ohio Central Railwzy Co, by deed of record in Deed Book 353, P, 207, fahc TRUE
POINT OF BEGINNING!

Thence South 04° 20" 40" West, with ant easterty line of said Techsouth Development Co. LLC tract and
with the westerly line of The Toledo & Otbio Central Railway Co. tract and soross s3id Fot I, a distance of [49.84
feet to & point;

Thente acsoss said Techsouth Development Co. LLE tract and said Lota G, H, and J, the following courssa
and distances:

Moxth 857 36' 30" West, a distance of 65,82 feet to a point;
South (4° 20" 27" West, a distance of 3332 feetto point;
North B7° 00’ 05° West, a distance of 17.19 feet to & poing
North 04° 01 42" East, a distancs of 1986 feet to 8 point;
North 83° 32' 39" West, » distance of 23.78 feet fo apoint,
North 03° 48" 17" East, a distance of 8.62 feet $0 & point;
Worth 85° 41 10" West, a distance of 56.93 feet to apoint;
South 01° 21° 29" West, n distance of 8.94 feet te a point;
Worth 857 09* 25% West, a distance of 69.10 fest foa point;
South 04° 05' 28" Wost, & distance of 176.97 feettca point;
North §5° 53' 32 West, 2 distanios of 254.72 feet 1o a point;
Norih 41° 14' 17* West, a distance 0f 28,34 feet 1o a point;
North 03° 46' 43" East, a distance of 21,31 feet to 4 point;
North £5° 20 317 West, a distance 0f 21,60 feet to a poing
Morth [3° 58 03" Bast, s distance of 101.05 fest to u pointy
North 86° 01' 46" Wost, & distance of 33.98 feet to a point;

North 03° 54! 14" East, a distance of 13641 feet to 2 point on the southerly rght-of-way line of said
Jeniking Ave,

South 867 11' 41" Bask, with the southerly ght-of-way Yine of Jenidns Ave., a distance of 564,60 foct to the
TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING and containing 2.633 acres, more or Jois,

«;\mlumm%'

Q
§ ,4\\5 o 0% EVANS, MECHWART, HAMBLETOR, & TILTON, INC.
€3 ;5

oY MO ) A Blzofo>

E
JTF  Michae O. Wenchick Date
£ Prafessionnl Surveyor No. 7854
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ATTACHMENT 4
PLAT AND LEGAL DESCRIPTION FOR PAVEMENT ENGINEERING CONTROL,
IDENTIFIED AREA 2
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Instrument Number 200906240090921,

PAVEMENT EASEMENT
7083 ACRE

Situated in the Staie of Ohio, County of Franidin, Gity of Columbus, lying in Lois B and T of
“plat of the Estate of WM Metion Dec'd.”, of recosd in Plat Boak 17, Pages 256 - 260, being 2 strip of
th Development Co. 1.LC by deed of record in

land on, over, and across the fract conveyed to Techsoul
{all references are to the resords of the Recorder's Office,

Franklin County, Ohio) and being more particularty described as follows:
Beginning for reference, at 2 1 inch iron pipe found the intersection of the southerty right-of-way

line of Jenking Avenne and the westerly right-of-way line of Chamapion Avesue being the northessterty
comer of tot number 1 of “Champion Ave. Terrace Add.” of record in Plat Rook 20, Page 66;

Thenoe North §6° 11 417 West, with the soufherly right-of-way line of Tenking Ave, r distance
of 763,70 $ect, to & point on an easterly lins of said Techsouth Development Co. 110 tract and on the
westerly line of the tzact conveved to The Toledo & Ohia Ceptral Railwsy Co. by deed of record in Deed

Book 333, P. 207;

Thence Seuth 04° 20° 407 West, with an casterly line of said Techsouth Development Co. LLC
sract and with the westerly line of The Toledo & Obio Central Bailway Ca. fract, acToss seid Lot I, a
distanes of 411 41 feet, 1o the TRUE POINT OF BEGENNING;
with mn easterly Hne of sald Techsouth Development

Thence contimuing South 04° 207 407 Weat,
Cp. LLC tract and with the westerly line of The Toledo & Otio Central Rafiway Co. tract, across said Lot

1, e distance of 54 00 feet, to » point;
Thenot across said Techsouth Development Co. LLC tract and acrose said Lots I and H, the
following courses and distances!

North 85° 39" 20" Waest, a distance of 67.0C feet, to a point;

Horth 04° 20° 40” East, a distance of 54.00 feet, 1o 2 point;

Routh 85° 39’ 20" Bast, a distance of 6700 feet, to the TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING, and

. contairing 0,043 scre more or less.
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ATTACHMENT §
PLAT AND LEGAL DESCRIPTION FOR PAVEMENT ENGINEERING CONTROL,
IDENTIFIED AREAS 6 and 7
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PAVEMENT EASEMENT
1150 ACRES

Sitoated in the State of Ohio, Counfy of Framidin, City of Columbus, lying in Lots T and J of “Plat
of the Bstate of WM Merion Dec’d.”, of record in Piat Book 17, Peges 256 - 260, being & strip of land on,
over, and actoss the tract conveyed to Techsouth Development Co, LLC by deed of record in Instronment
Nomber 200906240090021, (all references are L0 the records of the Recorder’s Office, Franklin County,

Ohdo) and being more particulerly described 25 folfowa:

Beginning for reference, at 8 1 inch iron pipe found the intersection of the southerly right-ofvway
line of Jenkins Avenus and the westerly right-of-way kine of Chumpion Avenue being the portheasterly
commer of lot number 1 of “Champion Ave. Temace Add.™ of record in Plat Bock 26, Page &8;

Thence North 86° 117 417 West, with the sontherly right-of-way lins of Jenkins Ave, a distance
of 753,70 feet, to a point at the northwestetly corner of the tract conveyed to The New York Central
Railroad of record in Deed Book 2587, P, 538 2nd on the easterly line of the tract conveyed to The Tolede
£ Ohio Centeal Railway Co. by deed of record in Deed Book 353, F. 207,

Thence South 04° 20" 40" West, with the westerly line of The New York Central Railroad tract,
with the easterly line of The Tolede & Ollo Central Railway Co. tract, and & westerly line of said

Techsouth Development Co. LLC tract, across said Lot 1, & distance of 235.01 feet, to the TRUE POINT
OF BEGINNING; .

Thence across said Techsouth Development Co. LLC tract and said lots Tand J, the following
courses and distances: :

South 86° L1' 41" East, a distance of 230.01 feat to & poink;
touth D4® 20t 40" West, v distance of B0.00 feat to & point
North §6° 11 41" West, a distance of 40.00 feet to a point;
South 04° 20' 40" West, a distance of 70.00 feet o 2 point
South 86° 11'41* Bast, a distance of 40.00 feet to 2 point;
South 04° 20° 40" West, a distance of 80,00 feet to 2 point;

North 86° 11" 41" West, 2 distance of 230,01 feetto a point on & westezly line of said Techsouth
Development Co, LLC tract and on the casterty line of The Toledo & Ohio Cenira] Raitway Co. tract;

Thence North 04° 20° 46" East, with a westerly fine of said Techsouth Developrent Co. LLC
tfract and with the easterly line of The Toledo & Ohie Central Railway Co. tract 2 distance of 230.01 feet
to the TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING and contzining 1,150 acres, moge or less.
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ATTACHMENT 6
PLAT AND LEGAL DESCRIPTION FOR PAVEMENT ENGINEERING CONTROL, PORTION
OF IDENTIFIED AREA 8
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PAVEMENT EASEMENT
0,519 ACRES

Situated in the State of (hle, Couxty of Pranklin, City of Columbus, lying in Lots Tand J of “Plat
of the Estate of W Mesion Dee'd”, of record in Plat Book 17, Pages 256 - 260, being 4 stzip of jand on,
oves, snd across the iract eonveyed 10 Techsouth Development Co. LLC by deed of record i Instrumment
Tumber 200906240000921, (all references are to the records of the Recorder’s Office, Frankiin County,
Obio) and being more particulaly deseribed as follows:!

Begitming for reference, at a1 ingh ircn pipe found the hrersection of the southerly right-ofway
Tine of Jemidng Avenue and the westerly right-of-way line of Charpion Avenue being the northeasterly
corner of lot mumber § of “Champion Ave. Terraos Add.” of regord in Plat Book 20, Page 66;

Thence Norts 86° 117 417 West, with the southerly tight-of-way line of Jenkins Ave, a distance
of 74370 feet, io a point &t the northeasterly comer of the tract comveyed to The New York Central
Raitroad of record in Deed Book 2587, P. 538 and on a westesly Jine of said Techsouth Development Co,
LILC tract

Thence South 04° 20° 407 West, with the easterly line of The New Yark Central Railroad tract,
with & westerly fine of said Techsouth Dreveippment Co, LLE tract, aceoss said Lot I, a distance of 74.86
feet, to the TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING,

Thence across said Techsouth Development Co. LLO tract and said Lots Tand T, the following
courses and distancss:

South 86° 111 41" East, » distance of 100.02 feet w0 a point;
North (4° 20" 40" East, & distance of 50.00 feef to 3 point;
South 86° 11' 41" Bast, a distanee of 86.00 feet to & point;
South 04¢ 20° 40" West, a distance of 159.01 fest to & point

Torth 86° 11' 41" West, a distance of 190.01 feet to & point on # westerly line of said Techsouth
Development Co. ILC tract and on the casterly line of the trct conveyed to The Toledo & Ohio Central
Railway Co. by deed of record in Deed Book 353, page 207, -

Thence Norik 04° 20° 40" Bast, with a wesiecly lize of s2id Techsouth Development Ca. LLC
tract and the easterly line of The Toledo & Ohio Central Railway Co. fract a digtance of 24.92 feet to a the
southerly corner of The New York Central Reilroad fract;

Thence Morth 11¢ 54' 25" East, with a westerly line of said Techsouth Development Co, LLC
tract and the easterly line of The New Vork Central Raitroad tract, a distance of 75 84 feet to the TRUE
POINT OF BEGINNING and containing £.519 acre, more or less.
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ATTACHMENT 7
RISK MITIGATION PLAN



RISK MITIGATION PLAN:
PRECAUTIONS FOR AVOIDING POTIONAL HEALTH RISKS
DURING CONSTRUCTION AND EXCAVATION ACTIVITIES

Former Technglas, Inc. Property
727 East Jenkins Avenue
Columbus, Franklin Couanty, Ohio

Angust 2009

1.0 PURPOSE OF RISK MITIGATION PLAN

The purpose of this Risk Management Plan (RMP) is to identify risk mitigation measures {0 be
implemented on portions of the former Technglas, Inc. property located at 727 East Jenkins Avenue,
Columbus, Franklin County, Ohio (“the Property”). The RMP is intended to address continued
compliance with construction/excavation activities applicable standards under the Ohio Environmental
Protection Agency’s (EPA’s) Voluntary Action Program (VAP).

Implementation of this RMP in the affected portions of the Property will provide protection of
construction and/or excavation workers from chemicals of concern in soils at the Property. This RMP
outlines activities to be implemented to maintain consiruction/excavation risk mitigation measures and
reporting requirements to the Ohio EPA. '

The RMP is considered an institutional control at the Property under the VAP. The Volunteer (or
subsequent owner if the Property is transferred) has the responsibility to implement the RMP in the event
of construction/excavation activities in the affected portions of the Property, in accordance with an
Operations & Maintenance (O&M) Agreement entered into by and between the Volunteer and the Ohio
EPA. All workers that engage in construction and/or excavation activities in affected portions of the
Property are required to adhere to the provisions of this RMP.

2.0 CHEMICALS OF CONCERN AT THE PROPERTY

The Property consists of eight (8) parcels and a portion of a ninth parcel cornprising 46.371 acres
of land within an area of mixed residential and industrial land use. The Property, which is irregular in
shape, is bordered-to the north by Frebis Avenue and to the south by Woodrow Avenue. A portion of the
Property exiends west 10 Nineteenth Street, while the castern portions of the Property adjoin the rear lot
lines or an alley of residential lots that front Champion Avenue. The Property is developed with several
commercial/industrial and ancillary buildings and concrete and asphalt surfaces.

Initial development of the Property occurred between 1900 and 1922 as the Property was
occupied by several glass companies for the manufachre of glass bottles and glass block until
approximately 1949. In 1953 the Kimble Glass Company acquired the Property. The Kimble Glass
Company is best known for the manufacture of pharmaceutical drug vials; however, with the advent of
ihe television in the ezrly 1950s, the Property was used 1o manufacture television picture tube assermblies
during the early to mid 1950s. The manufacture of television picture fube assemblies continued af the
Property under several different entities — the most recent being Technglas, Inc. — until August 2004.

VAP Phase II Property Assessment activities conducted at the Property identified a variety of
constituents of concern (COCs) in soil and groundwater. Subsequent remedial activities were conducted
in locations in which concentrations of chemicals of concern exceeded applicable VAP standards.



Pased on these assessment and remedial activities, the Property meets VAP applicable standards
for future comstruction/excavation activities except in certain portions of the Property, referred to as
Identified Areas 1, 7 and 8. In these areas, residual concentrations of lead exceeded the VAP Generic
Direct Contact Standard (GDCS) for construction/excavation activities (750 mulligrams per kdlogram, or
“meg/kg”) within the 0-10 foot point of compliance for these activities. These areas arc discussed M
greater detail below.

Identified Area 1

Tdentified Area 1, in its entirety, is subject to an RMP based on concentrations of lead detected in
soil that exceeded the VAP GDCS for construction/excavation activities. A legal description and
schematic of Identified Area 1 is presented as Txhibit 1. Construction and/or excavation workers m this
area may be exposed 1o concentrations of lead that exceed VAP soil direct contact standards for
construction/excavation activities.

Identified Area 7

Identified Area 7, in its entirety, is subject fo an RMP based on concentrations of lead detected in
confirmatory soil samples collected during remedial activities in this area that exceeded the VAP GDCS
for construction/excavation activities. A legal description and schematic of the arca subject to the RMP 18
presented as Exhibit 2. It should be noted that the legally described limits in Fxhibit 2 include both
Tdentified Areas 6 and 7. Therefore, while soils within Identified Arez 6 met VAP applicable standards
for construction/excavation activities, the entire area described in Exhibit 2 is sabject to this RMP, until
such time as the legal description may be revised to exclude Identified Area 6. Construction and/or
excavation workers in this area may be exposed to concentrations of lead that exceed VAP scil direct
contact standards for construction/excavation activities.

Identified Area 8

A portion of Identified Area 8 is subject to an RMP based on the concenirations of lead defected
during VAP Phase TI Property Assessrment  activities that exceeded the VAP GDCS  for
construction/excavation activities. A legal description and schematic of that portion of Identified Area 8
subject to the RMP 1s presented as Exhibit 3. Construction and/or excavation workers in this arca may be
exposed to concentrations of lead that exceed VAP soil direct contact standards  for

_construction/excavation activities.

3.0 CHEMICAL HAZARDS AND EXPOSURES

The COC in this RMP is lead. The primary routes of exposure to lead are ingestion, inhalation of
dust, and dermal contact. Exposures to Jead during construction/excavation activities are generally of
short duration; however, they are more intense in nature than normal commercial/industrial use of a
Property. Exposures to soils containing lead in excess of VAP standards for construction and excavation
workers can be effectively controlled and the tealth hazards minimized through the procedures presented
it this RMP.

The potential for lead in soils to impact human health is limited to non-carcinogenic effects.
There is no evidence that suggests that iead is a carcinogen. Rather, chronic over-exposure fo lead causes
impairment of the nervous system, the respiratory system, or reduced kidney or liver function. Workers
would be anticipated to be exposed to lead during excavation in the legally described arsas from ground
surface to the groundwater interface. The VAP “point of compliance” for construction/excavation



activities at the Property is 10 feet below ground surface. The potential exposure pathways to lead in soil
for construction/excavation workers consist of the following:

> Inhalation of soil particles containing lead; and
% Oral ingestion of soil containing lead,

The foliowing section lists precautions fo prevent exposires when working in the areas legally described
in Exhibits 1-3.

4.0 PRECAUTIONS AGAINST EXPOSURES

Controls are in place at the Property to protect against future human contact with chemicals of
concern in soil. An environmental covenant will be recorded with the deed for the Property which will
restrict the use of the Property to commercial and/or industrial purposes. Identified Areas 1, 7 and § are
subject to an engineering control (i.e., pavement) which prevents direct contact with soil by commercial
and/or industrial workers or visitors to the Property. However, neither the environmental covenant nor
the engineering control will prevert direct contact exposures by construction and/or excavation workers.

Construction and/or excavation workers should attempt to limit direst contact exposure 0 soils or
minimize the time after contact that the soil remains on the skin. The potential for increased health risks
can be avoided through simple, cOmMMON-SCNEe precautions. Specific precautions that should be taken
during all on-Property construction and/or excavation activities include the following:

1. Wear clothes that limit the skin area avzilable for contact with the soil. Examples of such
clothing include gloves, hard hats, long sleeve shirts and long pants.

7 Wash hands frequently and always before eating, smoking, chewing gum ot tobacco, or other
activities that involve contact between the hands and the mouth. This will prevent the
ingestion of soils on the hands through the mouth.

3. Do not apply cintments, cream, make-up or other substances before washing both the area to
which the substance is to be appled and, if the substance is to be applied by hand, the hands.
The application of such substances can provide a mechanism by which soil can be trapped
next to the skin. In addition, do not apply such substances in the general area of where the
soil is exposed, especially if there is visible dust as 2 result of excavation or othex activities.

4. Cover cuts, scrapes and other open skin arcas.

5 Wash hends and other exposed areas, especially those areas with visible dirt, before leaving
the work site for extended time periods. This limits the amount of Hme that the soil 18
potentially in contact with the skin, thereby reducing the amount of the chemicals that can be
absorbed through the skin,

6. Change work clothes shortly after leaving the Property, especially those work clothes having
either visible dirt or made damp through sweat or other liquids. Wash such clothes prior o
wearing again. Gloves and other such items that come into direct contact with the soil should
also be washed, if possible.

7 Wash hair and other less accessible portions of the body shortly after leaving the work site for
the day. Dirt and dust that comtain substances such as lead can seftle in the hair and spread by



contact between the hands and the hair. Dirt and dust can also infiltrate under and through
clothing, especially clothing becoming wet or sweaty.

5.0 ACTIONS TO BE TAKENIF SIGNIFICANT EXPOSURES OCCUR

If significant exposures 10 contaminated materials are suspected to have occurred at the Property,
the following steps must be implemented:

1. Immediately remove all personnel from the work area, and take steps 1o TCMOVE affected
stemns of clothing and wash affected areas of skin, eic.

9 Restrict access to the contaminated area.
3 Perform sampling and analysis as required to determine levels of personal protective

equipment, decontamination of personnel and equipment, Taining needs, medical
ior to resurning work af the Property.

surveillance and waste management requirements pri
4. Provide medical surveillance of personnel as needed.

6.0 HANDLING OF SOILS DURING EXCAVATION

Specific requirements for handling soils removed durng excavation activities within Identified
Ayeas 1, 7 and 8 are presented below.

Identified Area 1

Should foture excavation activities be conducted within Identified Area 1, excavated soil must be
handled accordingly. If excavated soils within Identified Area 1 are anticipated to remain on-site, the
excavated soil must be returned to the interval from which it was excavated and the pavement engineering
control must be restored. However, if excavated soils are anticipated to be disposed off-site, the
excavated soils must be properly characterized and disposed in accordance with applicable laws and
regulations. If excavated soils are disposed off-site, the excavation must be backfilled with clean fill
material.

Tdentified Area 7

Should future excavation activities be conducted within Identified Area 7, excavated soil must be
handled accordingly. If excavated soils within Identified Area 7 are anticipated to remain on-site, the
excavated soil must be refurned to the interval from which it was excavated and the pavement engineering
control must be restored. However, if excavated soils are anticipated to be disposed off-site, the
excavated soils must be propetly characterized and disposed in accordance with applicable laws and
regulations. If excavated soils are disposed off-site, ¢he excavation must be backfilied with clean £l
material.

Tdentified Area 8

Should future excavation activities be conducted within the portion of Tdentified Area § subject to
#his RMP and an engineering control, excavated soil must be handled accordingly. If excavated soils
within the portion of Identified Area 8 are anticipated to remain on-site, the excavated soil must be
returned to the interval from which it was excavated and fhe pavement engineering control must be
restored. However, if excavated soils within the engineering control are anticipated to be disposed off-



site, the excavated soils must be properly characterized and disposed in accordance with applicable laws
and regulations. If excavated soils are disposed off-site, the excavation must be backfilled with clean fill
material.

7.0 NOTIFICATION TO WORKERS

Should construction and/or excavation activities be conducted within the areas described in
Exhibits 1 through 3, the Volunteer (or subsequent Property owner) is responsible for commumicating the
following information to workers prior to the initiation of construction/excavation activities:

¢ Lead is a naturally-occurring heavy metal and is utilized for commercial and industrial purposes.

¢ Lead enters the environment in a variety of ways. Tt is generated from the burning of fossil fuels
and mining activities. Lead is used in industrial manufacturing, particularly in the production of
batteries, ammunition, brass, glass, pigments, printing and x-ray shieids. In addition, lead is
found in paints, ceramic and pottery products, caulking and pipe solder. Lead was also utilized as
a gasoline additive vntil being banned in the United States in 1996.

¢ The primary routes of human exposure #0 lead are through ingestion and inhalation.

¢ The health effects of lead are generally the same whether it enters the body through ingestion or
inhalation. Although lead can affect almost every organ and system in the human body, the AN
target is the nervous system in adults and children.

¢ No conclusive evidence exists indicating that lead causes cancer although lead is considered a
probable human carcinogen ot reasonably anticipated to be a human Carcinogen.

¢ FExposure to lead is more dangerous for young children than adults as. children are more
vulnerabie to lead poisoning.

¢ The frequency and severity of health effects increases with the concentration of lead in the blood.
Symptoms of acute exposure o lead include loss of appetite, nausea, vomiting, stormach cramps,
constipation, difficulty sleeping, fatigue, moodiness, headache, joint or muscle aches, anemia and
decreased sexual drive.

& Chronic exposure to lead in adults can result in damage to the blood-forming, nervous, urinary
and reproductive systems. The effects of chronic lead exposure may include decreased
performance on tesis that measure nervous system function, weakness in the fingers, wrists or
ankles, increases in blood pressure and anemia. Exposure to high lead levels can severely
damage the brein and lddneys in adults or children and ultimately cause death: cause miscarnage
in pregnant wormen; and damage reproductive organs in men.

8.0 IMPLEMENTING THE RISK MITIGATION PLAN

_ The responsibility for implementing this RMP belongs with the Property owner. The Property

owner is responsible for oreparation of arnual reports 10 the Ohio EPA and also for notifying the Ohio
EPA if the RMP was implemented during the year (e.g. for subsurface excavation Or TEpAIS).
Notification of RMP jmplementation must be sent t0 the following address:



Ohio EPA

Central District Office

50 West Town Street

Suite 700

Columbus, Ohio 43215

Attn: Former Technglas, Inc. Property Coordinator

9.0 NOTIFICATIONS TO THE OHIO EPA

Annual reports will be prepared by the Property owner and submitted to the Director of the Ohio
EPA at the Ohio EPA’s Central Office in Columbus, Ohio, with a copy transmitted o the Ohio EPA’s
Central District Office. The annual reports will describe any events that took place during the year which
required implementation of specific provisions of this RMP. The report will describe the activities
conducted and how the RMP was implemented. Annual reports must be submitted to the Ohio EPA even
i this RMP was not implemented. Attachment % of the O&M Plan contains the appropriate reporting
form.

100 TERMINATION OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT PLAN

The Property owner may elect t©0 petition the Director of the Ohio EPA to terminate this RMP.
The termination criteria were outlined in the VAP O&M Plan for the Property.

FHZWA00R\E081 13-01\WAP Phese Il ReportiFormer Technglas RMP.doc



EXHIBIT 1

LEGAL DESCRIPTION AND SCHEMATIC OF IDENTIFIED AREA 1



PAVEMENT EASEMENT
1.633 ACRES

Simated in the State of Ohio, County of Fraoidin, City of Columbus, lying in Lots G, 1 and T of “Plat of the
Estzte of WM Merion Dec’d.”, of record in Plat Book 17, Pages 256 - 260, being 2 strip of land oo, over, and across
the tract conveyed to Techsouth Development Co. LLC by desd of record in Instrument Number 200806240090521,
{ali references are to the records of the Recerder’s Office, Frankiin County, Ohio) and being more particularly
described as follows: ‘

Begirning for reference, ata 1 inch iron pipe found the intersection of the southerly right-of-way line of
Jenldns Avenue and the westerly right-of-way line of Champion Avenus being the northeasterly comer of lot
pumber 1 of “Champion Ave. Terrace Add™ of record in Plat Book 20, Page 66;

Thence North 86° 11° 417 West, with the southerly right-of-way line of Jenkins Ave, 2 distance of 783.70
feet, 1o a point on an easterly line of said Techsouth Development Co. LLC tract and on the westerly line of the tract
conveyed to The Toledo & Ohio Central Railway Co. by deed of record in Deed Book 353, P. 207, the TRUE
POINT OF BEGINNING;

Thence South 04° 20' 40" West, with an easterly line of said Techsouth Development Co. LLC tract and
with the westerly line of The Toledo & Ohio Central Railway Co. tract and across said Lot I, 2 distence of 149.84
feet to 2 poinf;

Thence across szid Techsouth Development Co. LLC tract and said Lots G, H, and T, the following courses
and distances:

Worth £5° 36' 30" West, a distance of 65.82 feet to a point;
South 04° 20" 27" West, & distance 0f 3532 fest o 2 point;
North 87° 00' 09" West, a distance of 17.19 fest to a point;
North 04° 01’ 42" East, 2 distanoe of 79.86 feet to 2 point;
Morth §3° 32' 39" West, a distznce 02378 feettoa point;
Worth 03° 48' 17" East, a distance of 8.62 feet to a point;
North 85° 41' 10" West, a distance of 556.93 feet to 2 point;
South 01° 21" 20" West, a distance of 8.94 feet to a point
Porth 86° 09’ 25" West, a distance of 69.10 fest 0 2 point;
South 04° 06' 28" West, a distance of 176.97 feet to 2 point;
Worth 85° 53 32" West, a distance of 254,72 feet to 2 poing;
Wortk 41° 14' 17" West, a distance of 28,34 feet to a point;
North §3° 46 43" East, a distance of 71.31 feet o a point;
North 85° 25 31" West, a distance of 21.60 foet .tu a point;
Morth 03° 58' 08" Bast, & dﬁst,am.e of 101.05 feet to & poing
North 86° 01' 46" West, a distance of 33.98 feel to a point;

North 03° 54' 14" Hast, a distance of 136.41 feet to a point on the southerly right-of-way line of said
lenkins Ave;

South 35° 11' 41" East, with the southerly right-of-way ling of Jenkins Ave., & distance of 564.60 foet fo the
TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING and containing 7.633 acres, more or less.
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EXHIBIT 2

LEGAL DESCRIPTION AND SCHEMATIC OF IDENTIFIED AREA 7



PAVEMENT EASEMENT
1.150 ACRES

Qituated in the State of Ohio, Coumty of Frankiin, City of Columbus, lying in Lots Tand ¥ of “Plat
of the Bstate of WM Merion Dec’d.”, of record in Plat Book 17, Pages 256 - 200, being » strip of land on,
over, and across the tract conveyed to Techsouth Development Ca. LLC by deed of record in Instrument
Nipmber 200006240050921, (all references are to the records of the Recorder’s Office, Frankiin County,
Ohie) and being more particularly described as follows:

Beginning for reference, at 2 | inch, iron pipe found the intersection of the sowtherly right-of-way
fine of Jenkins Avemue and the westerly rght-of-way Hne of Champion Avemnne being the northeasterly
comér of lot number 1 of “Champien Ave. Terrace Add” of record in Plat Book 20, Page 66;

Thence North 86° 11° 417 West, with the southerly right-of-way line of Jenkins Ave, a distance
of 753.70 feet, to a point at the northwesterly comer of the tract conveyed to The New York Ceniral
Railroad of record in Dead Book 2587, P. 538 and on the easterly line of the tract conveyed to The Toledo
& Ohio Central Railway Co. by deed of record in Deed Book 353, P. 207;

Thence South 04° 20° 407 West, with the westerly line of The New York Central Rattroad tract,
with the casterly Hne of The Toledo & (thie Central Railway Co. tract, and 2 westerly line of said
Techsouth Development Co. LLC tract, across said Lot T, a distance of 235.01 feet, to the TRUE POINT
OF BEGINNING;

Thence across said Techsouth Development Co. LLC wact and said Jots T and J, the following
courses and distances:

Sputh 86° 11° 417 East, & distance of 230.01 feet to a point;
South 04° 207 40" West, a distance of 80 00 feet to a point;
North 85° 11' 41" West, 2 distance 0f 40.00 feet to a point;
South 04° 20" 40" West, a distance SF 70.00 feet to a point;
South 86° 11' 41" East, a distance of 40,00 feet to a point;

Seuth 04° 207 40" West, a distance of 20.00 feet to a point;

North 86° 117 41" West, a distance of 230.01 fest to a point on a westerly line of said Techsouth
Development Co. LLC tragt and on the casterly tine of The Toledo & Ohio Central Railway Co. tract;

Therce North 04° 20° 40" Ezst, with a westerly Jine of said Techsouth Development Co. L.LC
fract and with the easterly lins of The Toledo & Oldo Central Railway Co. tract 2 distence of 230,01 feet
to the TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING and containing 1.150 acres, more or less.
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Professional Surveyar No, 7854
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EXHIBIT 3

LEGAL DESCRIPTION AND SCHEMATIC OF THE
PORTION OF IDENTIFIED AREA 8



PAVEMENT EASEMENT
0519 ACRES

Simated in the State of Olio, County of Frankiin, City of Columbus, lying in Lots {and J of “Plat
of the Bstate of WM Merion Dec’d.”, of record in Plat Book 17, Pages 256 - 260, being 2 strip of land on,
over, and across the tract conveyed to Techsouth Development Co. LLC by deed of record in Instrument
Nummber 200906240090521, {gl} referenoces are {6 the records of the Recorder’s Office, Frankiin County,
Ohic) and being more particularly described as follows:

Beginning for reference, ata 1 inch iron pipe found the intersection of the southerly right-of-way
line of Jenkins Avenue and the westerly right-cf-way line of Champion Avenue being the northeasterlty
comer of lot number 1 of “Champion Ave. Terrace Add” of record in Plat Book 20, Page 66;

Thenoe North 86° 11° 41 West, with the southerly right-of-way line of Jenkins Ave, a distance
of 743.70 feet, to a point at the northeasterly corner of the fract comveyed to The New York Cenfral
Railroad of record in Deed Book 2587, P. 538 and om a westerly line of said Techsouth Development Co,
LLC tract;

Thence South 04° 207 407 West, with the easterly line of The Mew York Central Railroad tract,
with a westerly line of said Techsouttr Development Coy LG tract, across said Lot E-a-distance of 74.86 -
feet, to the TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING;

Thence across said Techsouth Development Co. LLC tract and said Lots I and ], the fotlowing
courses and distances:

South 86° 11" 41" East, a distance of 160.02 fest to a poink;

Worth 04° 20" 40" Fast, a distance of 50.00 faet to a point;

South 86° 11'41" East, a distence of 80.00 feet to a point;

South 04° 207 40" West, 2 distance of 150.01 feet to a point;

North 86° 11' 41" West, 2 distance of 190.01 feet 10 3 point on & westerly line of said Techsouth
Development Co. LLC tract and on the easterly line of the tract conveyed to The Toledo & Ohio Central
Railway Co. by deed of recerd in Deed Book 353, page 207,

Thence North 64° 20 40" East, with & westerty line of said Techsouth Development Co. LLC
tract and the easterly line of The Toledo & Ohio Cengral Railway Co. tract a distance of 24.92 feetto a the
southerly corner of The New York Central Railroad tract;

Thence Nerth 11° 54 25" Hast, with z westerly line of said Teehsouth Development Co. LLC

trant and the easterly line of The New Vork Central Railioad tract, z distance of 75.84 feet to the TRUE
POINT OF BEGINNING and containing 0.519 avze, more of less,

R EVANS, MECHWART, HAMBLETON, & TILTON, INC.
\‘" < E O F (l,
Sar 04 %, -
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£ *{ a t E Michzel ©. Wanchick Date
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ATTACHMENT 8

FORM 1 - INSPECTION FORM



O&M INSPECTION FORM
FORMER TECHNEGLAS, INC. FACILITY
727 EAST JENKINS AVENUE
COLUMBUS, OHIO

Inspector: Affiliation:
Date: Phaone Number:
””” Time: Scheduled: Unscheduled: i T T T

Area(s) of Property Inspected:

Weather Condiions:

L During the past year, did you conduct any projects that involved an excavation?
Yes No
If no, go to question 3.
2. Did the excavation preject penetraie any area subject to a pavement engineering control?
Yes No

excavation. (If necessary, please attach any additional information to this form.}

If the answer to either of the above guestions is yes, please describe the excavation activity and location of the

3. Is the Property continued to be used for commercial/industrial purposes in accordance with the
environmental covenant for the Property?

Yes No

If no, please describe revised land use:




Form | — Page 2

&, Groundwater at the Property may not be used for any purposes, potable or otherwise, except for
investigation and remediation. Is -the groundwater being used consistent with the specified
groundwater restriction designated in the environmental covenant?

Yes No

if no, please describe.

5. Other than the annual submittals calied for in the O&M Plan, have you submitted any notifications
to the Director of the Ohio EPA regarding the Property and/or its O&M obligations during the past
year?

Yes No

If yes, please aftach a copy of the notification{s) to this form.

6. As part of any inspection (scheduled or otherwise), were any breaches observed in the temporary
interim engineering controi?

Yes No

7. As part of any inspection (scheduled or otherwise), were any breaches observed in either any
pavement engineering control?

Yes No

8. If yes, please describe below:

. Interim | Permanent Date of

Breach Remed ?avemen : Date Date Repairs Postrepair
¥ of Breach Completed Inspection




Form | — Page 3

Actions to address a breach in a temporary interim engineering control or a permanent pavement
engineering control must be submitted in a report attached to this Form, in compliance with Section 4
of the approved 0&M Plan, which documents:

Al Identification of action as a repair.

B. Beginning and ending dates of action or estimated date of completion (if this form
is submitied before the action is complete).

C. Summary of Action.

D. Summary of Restoration of Engineering Controf and compliance with all terms
— and conditions.

E. Summary of measures taken for the protection of employees and the general
pubiic.
F. Date and results of post construction and post-repair inspection {to occur within

30 days after completion of the action).

8. During the past year, was it necessary to implement the RMP In any of the three areas described in
the RMP?

Yes No

If yes, please describe the activities that resulted in implementation of the RMP:

{(Use additional sheets, as necessary, and attach to this form.)
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DRAFT

OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT
Between Ohioc EPA and TechSouth Development Co,, LILC
Regarding the Former Technegias Facility,
Frankiin County, Chic

This Operation and Maintenance Agreement (‘Agresment”) is entered into by the
Director of the Ohio Environmental Protection Agency (“Director”), and TechSouth
Development Co., LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Owner”), pursuant fo
Ohic Revised Code (*ORC") Chapter 3746 and Ohio Adminisirative Code (“OAC")
Chapter 3745-300. In consideration of the mutual covenants and subject fo the terms
and conditions of this Agreement, the parties agree as follows:

1. The NFA Letter. A no further action letter (NFA Letter No. - the “NFA
L etter”) under the Voluntary Action Program (“VAP") was supmitted to the
Director on behalf of the Volunteers, TechSouth Development Co., LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company, and the City of Columbus, on September 4,
2009, by Matthew D. Knecht, a certified professional (Certified Professional
No.105), for approximately 46371 acres of real property and consisting of eight
entire parcels and a portion of a ninth parcel (the “Property”), all of which are
owned by TechSouth Development Co., LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company and located at 797 East Jenkins Avenue, Franklin County, Ohio. The
legal description of the Property is attached hereio as Exhibit 1, and incorporated
by reference herein. The NFA Letter includes an Operation and Maintenance
Plan (“O&M Plan”) for the Property. The term "O&M Plan” refers to the O&M
Plan dated August 2009. The O&M Plan is attached hereto as Exhibit 2 and is
incorporated into this Agreement by reference.

2. Addenda to the NFA Letter. [If necessary.]

3. Requirement for an Operation and Maintenance Agreement. This
Agreement is required for the Property pursuant to ORC 3746.10(C)(2) and
3746.12(A)(2).

4. Remedy for the Property. The remedy for the Property includes pavement
engineering controls, a risk mitigation plan for the protection of future
construction and excavation workers (RMP) and activity and use resfrictions.
The pavement engineering controls and RMP are only applicable to portions of
two of the parcels that comprise the Property, specifically Permanent Parcel
Numbers (PPNs) 010-113409 and 010-112267, as described in the O&M Plan.
The activity and use restrictions are set forth in the proposed Environmental
Covenant developed pursuant to ORC 5301.80 to 5301.92 and consist of a
commercial/industrial land use restriction and a restriction against the use of
groundwater for the entire Property and a restriction on the construction of
buildings for limited portions of the two parcels that are also subject to pavement
engineering controls. Following the issuance of a covenant not to sue

(F11626145.1 }



DRAFT

(“*Covenant”) for the Property, the Environmental Covenant will be recorded
pursuant fo ORC 3746.14 with the Franklin County Recorder's Office as deed
records for the respective parcels that comprise the Property.

5, implementation of O&NM Plan. Owner agrees {0 implement the engineering
controls and other remedial activities for the Property in accordance with the
O&M Plan, and perform all inspections, repairs, reporting, record keeping, and all
other requiremnents in accordance with the O&M Plan.

6. Property Access. Owner certifies that it has access to the Property sufficient 10
fully implement the 0O&M Plan and this Agreement. Further, upon transfer of the
Property or a portion thereof, the Owner shall require the transferee to maintain
such access as a condition of the fransfer.

7. Recording of Agreement. Owner shall cause this Agreement to be recorded as
required by the Covenant and as required by ORC 3746.14.

8. Effect of Violation of this Agreement. Failure to comply with this Agreement
or the O&M Plan, may constitute the failure fo maintain an applicable standard in
accordance with ORC 3745.12(B) and OAC Chapter 3745-300, and may b€
subject to the process outlined in the Compliance Schedule Section of this
Agreement. As set forth in Section 13 of this Agreement, any revocation of the
Covenant for one parcel of the Property shall not be based solely on a finding
that any other subdivided parcet of the Property no longer complies with the
applicable standards or the requirements of this Agreement. Noncompliance
with an institutional controt for the Property veids the Covenant, as provided in
ORC 3746.05. ‘

9. Financial Assurance. (Owner agrees to ensure that reasonable and adequate
funds in the amount of at least ___thousand doilars ($.,000) ("Minimum Amount”)
are available to comply with this Agreement and the O&M Plan by executing and
funding acceptable financial assurance. Examples of acceptable financial
assurance include a trust fund, a surety bond guaranteeing payment into a trust
fund, a surety bond guaranteeing performance of this Agreement and the C&M
Plan, a letter of credit, an insurance policy, a financial test and corporate
guarantee, an escrow sccount or such other financial assurance as approved by
Ohio EPA. For its financial assurance, the Owner has axecuted a corporaie
guarantee in the aggregate amount of _ thousand dollars ($_,000), attached
hereto as Exhibit #3. Owner agrees to maintain the corporate guarantee or
execute and fund other comparable, acceptable financial assurance and submit a
copy of each financial assurance to Ohio EPA. In the event the amount or forms
of financial assurance provided herein are inadequate.to comply with the ierms of
this Agreement, the Director may propose a Modification of this paragraph
pursuant to Section 15 of this Agreement.

[F1626145.1 )
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10.

11.

12.

Notice to Prospective Property Trancferees. At least thirty (30) days arior {0
the exacution of any sales contract or other document transferring Ownership of
the Properiy or any portion of the Property, the Owner(s) or Transferee(s), as
applicable, agree(s) 1o provide written notice 1o the prospective Property
transferee that the Property, of such portion of the Property, is subject to the
Covenant, this Agreement, and the O&M Plan.

Notice to the Director of Transfer of Property. Within thirty (30) days after a
sale or other transfer of the Property, or any nortion of the Property, the Owner(s)
or Transferea(s), as applicable, shall provide written notice to the Director that
the Property, or such portion of the Property, has been sold or otherwise
transfarred. This notice submitted to the Director shall include:

a. The name, address, and telephone number of the new Property owner
and the name, address, and telephone number of the contact person for
the new Property owner,

b. A legat description of the Property or such portion of the Property being
transferred; and

c. The ciosing'date of the transfer of Ownership of the Property or such
portion of the Property.

Option to Transfer this Agreement / Notice to Director. Pursuant to ORC
3746.14(C), the Owner(s) of the Property or a portion of the Property
(“Transferor”) may transfer its obligations under this Agreement to any other
person (the “Transferee”) by assignment or in conjunction with the acquisition of
title to the Property. Within thirty (30) days prior to such proposed transfer, the
Transferor shall provide written notice to the Director of the terms and conditions
of the proposed transfer of obligations of this Agreement and the O&M Pian
(“Transfer Terms and Conditions™), by submitting:

a. The name, address, and telephone number of the Transferee and the
name, address, and telephone number of the contact person for the
Transferes;

b. A statement of the exient to which the Transferee has assumed the

obligations of this Agreement and the O&M Plan;

C. A copy of the legal instrumeni(s) that provide the Transfer Terms and
Conditions; and

d. A copy of the Transferee’s fully executed and funded proposed financial
assurance that complies with the Financial Assurance Section of this
Agreement. The Transferor's financial assurance shall remain effective
until the Transferee's financial assurance is fully executed and funded.

[H1626145.1 }
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13.

4.

Upon the Director's receipt and written concurrence with such notice of the
Transfer Terms and Conditions in accordance with this section of the Agresment
and only upon the Transierse’s execution of a Modification pursuant fo Section
15 of this Agreement that adds the Transferee as a signatory to this Agreement,
the Transferee shall be substituted for the Transferor as a party to this
Agreement in accordance with the Transfer Terms and Conditions and upon
compliance with the terms of Section 20 below, Transferor shall have no further
obligation to comply with the obligations of this Agreement and the O&M Plan as
they relate to the portion of the Property transferred to Transferee. | the Director
does not concur with the notice of the Transfer Terms and Conditions and the
transfer takes place, then the. Transferor rernains obligated to comply with the
obligations of this Agreement and the O&M Plan.

Subparceling. Upon written notice submitted by the Owner(s) or Transferee(s),
as applicable, to the Director, that ane or more parcels of the Property have been
divided or subparceled, this Agreement shall apply separately to each subdivided
parcel upcn the date of subdivision or the date of the submission of written
notice, whichever occurs later. Owner(s) or Transferee(s), as applicable, shall
provide such written notice by submitting:

a.  The legal description of the subdivided parcels;

b. A survey map or maps of the subdivided parcels,

c. The date of the subdivision;

d. A copy of the legal instrument(s) providing for the subdivision; and
e. The names of the new owner, if any, of the subdivided parcels.

Upon the written notice submitted pursuant to this Section, this Agreement shall
be deemed o be amended, without modification of this Agreement, to identify the
subdivided parcels of the Properiy. The Covenant shall remain in effect for any
subdivided portion of the Property that continues to comply with the reguirements
of this Agreement and the applicable standards that form the basis of the
Covenant. Any revocation of the Covenant for any parcel shall not be based
solely on a finding that any other subdivided parcei of the Property no ionger
complies with the applicable standards or the requirements of this Agreement.

Documentﬁubmittais | Nofifications to Parties. All documents, inciuding but
not limited fo notices and reports, required to be submitied by Owner pursuant 10
this Agreement shall be identified by NFA Number and addressed to:

Ohio Environmental Protection Agency
50 West Town Street

[H1626145.1 }
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15.

L 0. Box 1049
Columbus, OH 43216-1049
Atin: Manager, Voluntary Action Program

and  Ohio Environmentat Protection Agency
Central District Office
Division of Emergency and Remedial Response
50 West Town Street
P.O. Box 1049
Columbus, OH 43216-1049
Attry: VAP Project Coordinator

All documents, including any notice required to be submitted by Ohio EPA
pursuant fo this Agreement, shall be delivered to Owner and addressed as
follows:

TechSouth Development Co., LLL.C
152 West 57 Street, 60™ Floor
New York, NY 10019

Attn: Jonathan Coven

Any party may designate an alternative contact name or mailing address upon
written notification fo the other parties.

Modification of this Agreement or the O&M Plan. Owner shaill submit to the
Director for review and approval each proposed modification of this Agreement or
fhe O&M Plan, except for a minor modification, as defined below, or a
modification proposed by the Director. This Agreement or the O&M Plan may be
modified by agreement of the appropriate parties. Modifications shall be in
writing, signed by the authorized representative of the Owner and by the Director,
and shall be effective on the date signed by the Director. Ohio EPA reserves the
right to require the submittal of a new NFA Letter for a proposed modification that
will result in the application of an applicable standard, tand use, or a remedy
different than that contained in the NFA Letter approved by the Covenant.

For purposes of this Agreement, “Modification” means any substantive or
material change to a term or condition of this Agreement of the O&M Plan, such
as a proposal to revise, replace, or terminate an engineering control, or to revise
the financial assurance as required by Section 9 of this Agreement.

For purpeses of this Agreement, “Minor Modification” means a non-substantive or
non-material, administrative change to a term or condition of this Agreement or
the O&M Plan, such as the transfer of this Agreement and the O&M Plan in
accordance with the Option to Transfer Section of this Agreement, or a change of
2 named contact person or an address contained in this Agreement or the O&M
Plan. Within fourteen (14) days after implementation of a Minor Modification to

[H1626145.1 )
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16.

17.

18.

19.

this Agreement or the O&M Plan, Owner agree to provide Ohio EPA written
notice of the Minor Modification.

Compliance Schedule Agreement. Within thirty (30) days after the mailing of
notice from the Director of the finding that the Property or a portion of the
Property no longer complies with the applicable standards upon which the
issuance of the Covenant was based, the Owner(s), or Transferee(s), as
applicable, shall notify the Director of the Owner(s) or Transferee(s) intention to
return the Property or such portion of the Property to compliance with the
applicable standards upon which the Covenant was based (“‘cure”) and enter into
a compliance schedule agreement with the Director for such cure, in accordance
with ORC 3746.12(B). The compliance schedule agreement shall esiablish a

reasonable period of fime for returning to compliance with those applicable
standards.

Compliance with Other Laws. Owner shall conduct all activities pursuant to
this Agreement and the O&M Plan in compliance with all local, state, and federal
laws and regulations, including but not limited to requirements 1o obtain permits
or authorizations. Owner acknowledge that Ohio EPA’s review and approval of
any health and safety measures or the risk mitigation plan contained in the O&M
Plan is limited to ensuring compliance with the requirements of ORC Chapter
3746 and OAC Chapter 3745-300 and does not to extend to determining
compliance with the Occupational Safety and Health Act, 29 U.5.C. 651 et seq.,
the regulations adopted under that act, or any obligation imposed by the
Occupational Safety and Health Administration.

Inspections by Ohio EPA. Owner shall allow the Director or his authorized
representative fo perform inspections to determine compliance with this
Agreement. Such inspections shall be consistent with ORC Chapter 3746 and
OAC Chapter 3745-300, inciuding but not limited to the reasonableness of
ingpection timing and fregquency in accordance with ORC 3746.21.

Program Costs for Monitoring Compliance with this Agreement.

Owner agree fo reimburse Ohio EPA for the actual direct and indirect costs
incurred by the Ohio EPA in monitoring compliance with this Agreement pursuant
to ORC 3746.04(B)(8) and OAC 3745-300-03(F).

a. Ohio EPA will periodically submit to Owner an itemized statement of its
monitoring costs for the previous year(s). Monitoring costs include, but
are not limited to, costs for reviewing submissions or reports required by
this Agreement, conducting Property inspections, corresponding with the
Volunteer or its representative, costs incurred to evaluate any notice of
Transfer Terms and Conditions, and any negotiations for a Modification of
this Agreement.

{Hi626145.1 )
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20.

21.

b. Within thirty (30) days of receipt of such itemized statement, Owner shall
remit payment for ali of Ohic EPA’'s monitoring costs for the previous
year(s). If Owner disputes the accuracy of items on the itemized
statement, a request for review of the statement may be made within thirty
(30) days of receipt of the statement. After review, Ohio EFA will resubmit
to Owner an itemized statement with appropriate revisions. Owner shall
remit payment within fourteen (14) days of receipt of the resubmitted
statement.

c. Owner shall remit payments to Ohio EPA pursuant to this Section of the
Agreement as follows:

L Payment shall be made by an official (or certified) check
made payable fo “Treasurer, State of Ohic.” The official
check shall be submitted to Ohio EPA, Office of Fiscal
Administration, P.O. Box 1049, 50 West Town Strest, P.O.
Box 1049, Columbus, Ohio 43216-1049.

i. A copy of the transmittal letter and check shall be sent to the Fiscal
Officer, DERR, Ohio EPA, 50 West Town Street, P.O. Box 1049,
Columbus, Ohio 43216-1049.

Hi. A copy of the transmittal letter and check shall be sent to the
Program Manager of the Voluntary Action Program, DERR, Ohio
EPA. 50 West Town Street, P.O. Box 1049, Columbus, Ohio
43216-1049.

Termination. This Agreement shall terminate upon (a) revocation or voidance of
the Covenant, (b) a demonstration, in accordance with OAC 3745-300-15(k) and
Section 5 of the O&M Plan, that implementation of this Agreement and the O&M
Plan is no longer necessary for the Property to comply with applicable standards,
upon written acknowledgment by the Manager of the VAP of the demonstration,
or {c) otherwise upon the written approval of the Director of the Ohio EPA.

Upon the: 1) written concurrence by the Director with a notice of the Transfer
Terms and Conditions as it relates to all or a portion of the Property; 2} the
satisfaction of the other requirements of Section 12 above; and 3) the execution
of a Modification to this Agreement by the Transferee(s), the obligations of the
Transferor under this Agreement shall terminate as to all or such portion of the
Property as is the subject of the notice of the Transfer Terms and Conditions, If
the Director does not concur with the notice of the Transfer Terms and
Conditions and the transfer takes place, then the Transferor remains obligated o
comply with the obligations of this Agreement and the O&M Plan.

Waiver. Owner agrees that the terms and conditions of this Agreement are
lawful and reasonable and agree to comply with this Agreement. Owner hereby

(H1626145.1 )
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23.

24.

waives its right to appeal the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and hereby
waives any and all rights it might have to seek judicial or administrative review of
this Agreement either in law or equity. Owner reserves its right to participate in
any appeal by a third party to the Environmental Review Appeals Commission or
{0 any court.

Entire Agreement. The terms and conditions of this Agreement, including the
O&M Plan, constitute the entire agreement of the parties. No oral or written
representation shall be binding uniess approved as a modification pursuant to the
Modification Section of this Agreement. The terms and conditions of this
Agreement shall be interpreted consistent with ORC Chapter 3746 and OQAC
Chapter 3745-300.

Authorized Signatories. Each undersigned representative of a signatory to this
Agreement represents that he or she is fully authorized to execute this
Agreement and to legally bind such signatory to this Agreement.

Effective Date. Upon execution of this Agreement by all parties, this Agreement
shalt be a valid and binding obligation enforceable-in-accordance with its terms
and conditions and effective upon the date of the Director’s signature.

in withess whereof, the parties herefo have executed this Agreement.

TECHSOUTH DEVELOPMENT CO., LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company:

By:

Date:

OHIO ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY:

By:

Date:

Chris Korlesk
Director of Ohio EPA

(Hi6261451 }



DRAFT

EXHIBIT 1

Property Legal Descriptions

{H1626145.1 )



DRAFT

EXHIBIT 2

O&M Plan
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ATTACHMENT 16
ELEVATION SURVEY MAP IN ACCORDANCE WITH OAC 3745-300-11(D)1)(d)
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Financial Assurance Document(s)



STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF NEW YORK

Finaricial Assutance TechSouth Development Co. LLE,

Operation & Maiftehance Agreement under Ohig’s Voluntary Action Program

AFFIDANHT

b
) S5
).

|, Lisa R. Schwartz, baing first duly Swiorn according 10 the faw, staté that, to the best of my Knowledge,
ififormation. and belief! ‘

PITHES2L)

1.
2.

Furthier affiant sayeth naught.

Swaorn to beﬁfore.me*th’is‘zé» _day, of December, 2009

Seal:

| am ah-adult'of eighteen (18) years old and competent to festify herein.

| hold thie position of Vice President with Graystafie Select Holdings LLC, which has |
common ownership, with TeéchSouth Development Co LLC {TethSouth), a Delawars

limitsd liability comparly, 152 West 57" Street, 60" Fioor, New York, NY 20018

TechSouth has assumed I?es;iiﬁnSiBjﬁfyi for . compliante with the Operation and

Maintenance Agréement ("OBM") 10 be entered into by TechSouth and the Director of thie

Ohie Environmenital Protection Agericy (EPA) regarding the TechSouth property at 727

East Jenkins Avenus, Colunibus, Franklin County; OHio 43207,

Reason‘aﬁie and adeéquate funids in the amount of &t jeast Fory-Six Thousand Ohs
Hunidred Nine and 007400 Disliars ($46,109) are ‘available to TechiSouth from Greysione:

Salect Holgings LLC for compliance with the firiancial assurarice provision of the O & M.
Attsiched is'a copy of the current Financiél Stateément-of Greystone Sélect Holdings LLC.
to support its ability fo satisfy its commitmient 6 rmest the finandial requirements of
TaehSouth uriderthe Operations:and Mairitenance Agreement.

The information identified in this affidavit and its attachments, incorporated by reference
hersin, 1 trus, accuraie and compiete,

" Schwart, Vied

§
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McGladrey & Pullen

Certified Public Accountants

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Management Committee
Greystone Select Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries
New York, New York

We have audited the accompanying consalidated balance sheet of Greystone Select Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2008, and the refated consofidated statements of income, comprehensive income, memboer's
equity and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibifity of the Company's
management. Our responsibiiity is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America,
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overdl financial statement
presentation. We befieve that our audit provides a reascnabie basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the

financial position of Greystone Select Holdings 11.C and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008, and the resuits of
their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America.
/W / ,/f«,%g £ L™
) -

Denwer, Cobrada
April 7, 2009

MoGiadeey & Pulien, LLP is an independent member frm of RSM international,
an sfitiation of separale and independent legal entifies.



Greystone Select Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheet
December 31, 2008

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

Servicing advances

Accrued interest receivable

Mortgage loans heid for sale

Mortgage loans hald for investment, net of aliowance of $943,365
Investments in trading securities

Investments in available for saje securitias

(nvesiments in hald to maturity securities

Accounts receivable

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $3,693,307
Morigage servicing rights

Due from related parties

Notes receivable, net

Notes receivable, related parties

Derivative instruments

Real estate under development

Real estaie held for sale

Other assels

Total assefs
LIABILITIES AND MEMBER'S EQUITY

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued interest payable
Credit faciiity payable
Funding agreements
Trust fiabiity
Aliowance for [os5es on loans sold with recourse
Notes payable
Notes payabie, related parties
Derivative instruments
Due fo related parties
Deferred revenue
Other Habiliies

Total liabilities
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 18)
MINORITY INTERESTY

MEMBER'S EQUITY
Member's equity
Accumulated other comprehensive income

Total member's equity
Total liabilities and member's equity

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

12,048,684
35,568,614
3,698,851
14,015,126
52,787,573
290,998,013
30,577,111
217,308,287
44,946 452
3,760,631
5,045,223
73,746,842
742,595
58,899,902
48,587,589
5,035,864
22,414,867
4,316,387
3407,737

931.888,.768

12,535,949
1,538,269
5,870,000

801,317,875

44 405,900

9,868,624

120,483,402
2,050,000
798,587
72,249
4,085,825
8,416.255

812,642,835

3,906,855

108,549,622
6,788.456

115,338,078

931,888,768




Greystone Sefect Holdings LL.C and Subsidiaries

Consclidated Statement of Ihcome
Year Ended December 31, 2008

Revenues:
Interest income

Gain from sale of mortgags loans, net

Sarvice fee income, net of fair value adjustment of $7 428,568

Unrealized gain on derivatives, net
Fee and other income

Total revenues

Expenses’
Interest expanse
Safary and employee benefit expense
Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Loss on sale of avaiiable for sale securities, net
Loss on trading securities, net
t oss on redemption of held to maturity securities, net
Other-than-temporary impairment on securities
Realized loss from seftiement of derivatives, net
Provision for ioan and note receivable losses
Provision for loan fosses on loans seld with recourse
Charitable contributions
Other expense

Total expenses

Net income

See Notes fo Consclidated Financial Statements.

$

73,972,378
42,841,442
10,350,368

4,363,480
12,246,529

143,774,235

39,409,352
24,305,044
14,158,891
852,105
4,708,827
5,852,430
148,935 -
665,474
8,492,721
1,643,875
2,022,874
3,402,500
861,830

106,531,898

3

37,242,397




Greystone Select Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statement of Member's Equity
Year Ended December 31, 2008

Accumulated
Other
Member's Comprehensive
Eouity Incoma {Loss) Total

Balance, December 34, 2007
Nefincome
Other comprehensive ioss
Distributions, net

Ralance, December 31, 2008

See Notes fo Consolidated Financial Statements,

§ 201808505 § 11789577 § 213,608,082
37 242,397 : 37 242,397
i (2,277,155} (2,277,155)

(130.501,280) (2.722.966) {133,224 246)
§ 108549622 & 6780456 § 115339078




Greystone Select Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income -
Year Ended December 31, 2008

Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Change in unrealized gains on avaitable for sale securities
Reclassification of losses on securities sold
Other comprehensive 10ss

Total comprehensive income

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

§ 37242387

(6,985,982)
4708877

(2,277 155)

§ 34965247



Greystone Select Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 2008

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Netincome
Adjustments to reconcile net income tn net cash provided by

operafing achvifies:
Amortization of premium and discount on available for sale securities
Depreciation and amoriization
Provision for loan and note receivable losses
Provision for loan iosses on loans soid with recourse
Change to reduce real estate heid for sale o fair value
Loss on loans sold with recourse
Capitalized mortgage servicing rights, net
Loss on sale of securities, net
Other-than-temporary impairment on securities
Unrealized foss on trading securifies, net
Purchase of trading securities
Proceads from sale of frading securities
Unrealized gain on derivatives, net
Change in fair value of mortgage servicing rights
Charge to reduce lcans held for sale fo fair valus
Gain on sale of fixed assets
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Servicing advances

Due to related pariies, net

Accounts receivable

Accrued interest receivable

Loans originated to be held for sale

Procaeds from sales of loans held for sale

Other assefs

Accounts payabie and accrued expenses

Accrued interest payable

Other ligbilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of available for sale securities
Net increase in restricied cash
Payments for capitalized costs retated fo real estale
Broceeds from sale and maturity of available for sale securities
Procaeds from redemption of heid to maturity securities
Proceeds from sale of mortgage servicing rights
Purchase of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Net decrease in mortgage loans held for investment
Payments received on related party notes receivable
Disbursements mads for related party notes receivable
Paymenis received on notes receivable
Disbursements made for notes receivable

Net cash provided by investing activities

{Continued)
6

$

37,242,387

(308,165)
852,105
1,643,875
2022874
375,000
(1,032,433)
(23,214,930)
9,424,084
665,474
1,289,128
(50,978,834}
98,025,175
(4,363,480}
7,428,568
232,374
6,875

(663,689)
(552,075)
(1,908,260)
5,520,629
(1,327,919,629)
1,407,074,556
77,467
3,436,406
(5,741,308)
1,686,137

150,315,999

(131,262,608)
(12,014,057}
(2,783,462)
439,306,253
18,631,054
13,334,903
(167 426)
1433
52,000,568
8,997,879
(3,300,870)
5,595,812
(3,218,849)

386,128,530




Greystone Select Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
Year Ended December 31, 2008

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from funding agreements
Repayments on funding agreements
Increase in credit facility payabie
Payments on trust fiabllity notes
Member distributions, net
Contributions from minority member of subsidiary
Proceeds from refated party notes payable
Payments on related party notes payable
Proceeds from noies payable
Payments on nofes payable

Net cash used in financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Beginning of year
End of year

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE INFORMATION
Cash paid during the year for inferest
Cash paid during the year for taxes

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH ACTIVITIES
Noncash transfer from mortgages receivable fo foreciosed real estate
Noncash contribution of trading securities
Noncash distribution of related party note
Noncash assumption of net trust fiability

Net assets of Greystone DCHFA Bonds, LLC subsidiary distributed from the Company to member
on February 5, 2008

Restricted cash

Accounts receivabie

Interest receivable

irvestment in debt securities

Accounts payable

interest payable

Trust iabiity

Derivative instruments

Due fo related parties

Net assets transferred / member distribution

(Continued)

§ 945,735,545
(1,178,303,126)
8,970,000
(270,824,021}
(77,710,793)
1,073,295
2,050,000
(750,000}
20,337,482
(5.224.210)

{554,845 B78)

(18,200,299)

30.248,993

£

12,048 694

=]

$ 45,611,107
217457

€

2,650,000
684,042
(33,588,662}
{8,811,928)

18,885,050
324,022
8,562,620
319,210,150
(280,557)
(5,864,170)
(317,560,000)
(8,923,734)
(535 312)

3 13.748,069




Greystone Select Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
Year Ended December 31, 2008

Net assets of East 93rd Street LLC subsidiary contributed from an affifiated
company to the Company on June 30, 2008

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $344 $ 11,519
Real estaie 15,385,334
Other assets _ 408,100
Accounts payable {6,882
Note payable, related party (10,293,750} -
Due to related parties {7,708)
Minaority interest {2,833580)
Net assets transferred / member contribution § 2644056

See Notes o Consolidated Financial Statements.



Greystone Select Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial S{atements

Note 1. Description of the Business

Greysione Sefect Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries fthe Company or the Companies) consist of corporations and
limited liability companies which are owned by one stockholderfmember with businesses extending throughout the
United States. The corporations included in the consolidated financia! statements at December 31, 2008, are as
follows:

Greystons Select Holdings LLC; Greystone Seiect Holdings LLC (Select) is a hoiding company which is the 100%
owner of Greystone Funding Corporation and Greystone Servicing Corporation, inc.

Greystone Funding Corporafion:  Greystone Funding Corporation (Funding) was formed in 1893 fo expand the
Companies' financial resources by directly funding mortgage-backed participation certificates and securities. As
such, Funding is an investor in Government National Morigage hssociation (GNMA), Federal Housing
Administration (FHA) securiies and varicus ofher investments. Included in Funding are the following subsidiary
entities: Greysione Financial Products, LLG, a 100%-owned subsidiary, was formed in 2000 to arrange letier of
credit financing for certain bond fransactions; Greystone Loan Funding LLC, a 100%-owned subsidiary, was
farmad in 2004 to fund mortgage-backed participation certificates and securities; Greystone Loan Funding Il LLC,
a 100%-owned subsidiary, was formed in 2008, fo fund mortgage-backed participation certificates and securities;
Greystone CDE, LLC {CDE), a 99%-owned subsidiary, was formed in 2005 fo invest money in low-income
designated areas and take advantage of related tax credits: NDP Properties, Inc., & 100% owned subsidiary, was
formed in 2007 to own foreclosed properties; Greystone Affordable Housing Initiatives LLC, a 99%-owned
subsidiary, was formed in 2008 as a transactional manager of tax exempt financing; Graystone Family of Funds,
LLC, 2 100%-owned subsidiary, was formed in 2007, 1o own hedge funds and hedge fund management
companies; Greystone Housing Funding LLC, a 09%-owned subsidfary, was formed in 2007, to borrow & $25
miliion revolving line of credit with Fannie Mae; Greystone Renewable Energy Ventures LLC, a 100%-0wned
subsidiary, was formed in 2008, to engage In fax cradif financing in the energy sector; and East 93rd Street LLC, &
49%-owned subsidiary, to acquire and develop real estate in New York City on East 93rd Street,

On June 30, 2008, a 49% managing membership interest in East 93rd Street LLC was transferred to Funding
through an equity contribution from the stockholder at the net book value of $2,644,056 on the date of transfer.
On February 5, 2008, a 100% interest in Greystone NCHFA Bonds, LLC (DCHFA) was transferrad and assigned
to the member through an equity distribution from Funding at the net bock value of $13,718,089 on the date of
transfer. Greystone Multi-Family Program, LLC (Multi-family}, a 100%-owned subsidiary, owned the 100% interest
in DCHFA prior to the date of transfer and was dissolved on December 18, 2008.

Grevstone Servicing Corporation, Ine.; Greystone Servicing Corporation, inc. (Servicing) acts in the capacity of a
morigagee and services multifamily foans for the duration of the loan, or untit such time, as the loan may be
refinanced and/or prepaid in full. Servicing is an approved sellsr/servicer of GNMA, FHA, and Federal National
Mortgage Association (FNMA) programs. The obligations of Servicing are o collect mortgage payments, remit
principal and interest to investors/participants, pay real estate taxes, pay property insurance premiums, inspect the
properties annually, and provide loan servicing assistance on issues which occur during the loan servicing term.
Servicing is also an investor in morigage loans and originates conventional, FHA and FNMA Delegated
Underwriting and Servicing (DUS) foans. Included in Senvicing are the foliowing entities: Greystone Commercial
Mortgage Loan Funding, LLC (CMLF) a 100%-owned subsidiary formed in January 2006 to ariginate bridge loans;
Greystone Bridge, LLC {Bridge) a 100%-0wned subsidiary formed in April 2005 to criginate bricge ioans; and GBA
Realty, LLC (GBA), a 100%-owned subsidiary, formed o own and operate the Company's office buiiding in
Warrenton, Virginia.



Greystone Select Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

hote 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Brinciples of consofidation: The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the
Companies described in Note 1. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been efiminated. The
Companies have consolidated the financlal statements of East 93rd Strest LLC based upen the control the
Companies axercise over the operations of East 93rd Strest LLC, The remaining interest in East 83rd Street LLC I8

refiected as a minority interest in the accompanying consoiidated financial statements. The Companies have 2lso
consolidated the trust refarenced in Note 22 as a variable interest enfity.

Estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (GAAP) requires the use of estimates and assumpfions that affect the reporied amounts of
assats and fiabiities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabiiities &t the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period based on management's knowiedge and
experience. Due to their prospective nature, actual results may differ materially from those estimates. Material
estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant change in the near term include the determination of the fair
value of mortgage senvicing rights, the allowance for loan iosses on ioans heid for investment, the aliowance for
losses on loans sold with recourse, the fair value of derivafive instruments, and the fair value of securities.

Cash and cash eauivalents: The Companies consider all highty liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days
of less to be cash equivalents. The Companies maintain deposits with financial institutions in amounts that at times
are in excess of federally insured limits; however, the Companies do not believe they are exposed fo any significant
credit risk from this concenfration.

Restricted cash:  Restricted cash is reserved for payments on credit facilities, or heid at third-party financial
institutions {o safisfy margin or other requirements.

Morigade loans heid for sale: Mortgage joans held for sale are reported at the lower of cost o fair value as provided
n Statement of Financial Accounting Standards { SFAS) Statement No. €5, Accounting for Certain Mortgage Banking
Achivities. Estimated fair value is determined using forward sale commitments to investors, or current market rates
for joans of similar quality and type. Morigage loans are recorded in accordance with SFAS Statement No. 140,
Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assels, as sales when the titls is transferred fo the investor, the
buyer has the right o pledge or exchange the asset, and the Companies no longer maintain effective control of the
assets. In accordance with SFAS Statement No, 18, Aceounting for Non-rafundable Fees and Costs Associafed with
Originating or Acquiring Loans and Initial Direct Costs of Leases, net loan origination fees and certain direct foan
origination costs are deferred as part of the basis in the loan and reflected in gain on sale upon the sale of the loan.

The Companies recognize gain on sale of loans when tite transfers at the time of sale fo investors. Gains are equal
o the difference between the saie price and the adjusted book value of the loans and are adjusted to recognize the
present value of future servicing fee income over the estimated lives of the related loans. The adjusted bock vaiue of
fhe loans inciudes the origingl principal amount pius adjustments related fo morigage loan originaticn fees and
certain direct loan origination costs,

Mottoace lcans held for investment: Morigage loans held for investment are reported at the principal amount
outstanding, adjusted for net deferred origination fees and allowance for loan losses. Loan origination fees net of
cerain direct loan crigination costs, are deferred as part of the basis in the loan and amoriized as a yield adjustment
over the life of the Toan.

10



Greystone Select Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries

Notes fo Consolidated Financial Staterments

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Allowance for loan losses on joans held for investment: The allowance for loan losses is estabiished as losses are
estimated to have occurred through a provision for ioan losses charged fo eamings. Loan losses are charged
against the allowance when management befieves the uncollectibifity of a loan balance is confirmed. Subsequent
recoveries, if any, are credited to the aliowance.

The allowance for loan losses includes afiowance allocations calcuiated in accordance with SFAS Statement No.
114, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan, as amended by SFAS 118, and allowance allocations
caloulated in accordance with SFAS Statement 5, Accounting for Contingencies (SFAS No. 5). The levet of the
sllowance reflects management's confinuing evaluations of delinquencies, charge-offs and recoveries, loan yolumes
and terms, changes in underwriting procedures, depth of the Companies’ lending managemant, national and local
economy, industry condifions, credit concentration, and other external factors, including compefition and lagal and
regulatory requirements, as well as trends in the foregoing.

A loan is considered impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Companies will
ne Unable 1o coliect the scheduled payments of principal or interest when due according to the contractual terms of
the loan agreement. Factors considered by management in determining impairment inctude payment status,
collateral vaiue, and the probability of collecting scheduled principal and interest payments when due. Lozns that
experience insignificant payment delays and payment shortfalls generally are not classified as impaired.
Management determines the significance of payment delays and payment shortfalls on a case-by-case basis, faking
into consideration all of the circumstances surrounding the loan and the harrower, including the length of the delay,
the reasons for the delay, the borrower's prior payment fecord, and the amount of the shortfall in relation to the
principal and interest owed. Impairment is measured on a loan by loan basis based on the difference between the
carrying vaiue and fair vaiue of the foan. The fair value of an impaired loan is determined by either the present value
of expected future cash flows discounted as the ioan's effective interest rate, the loan’s deferminable market price, or
the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral dependent.

investmenis: Investments include U.S. government and agency securifies, GNMA and FHA {multifamily) securities,
interest-only strips and municipal bonds purchased in the market. Some of the municipal bonds are subsequently
fransferred fo a trust in exchange for cash. For the bonds that are transferred info a trust the transactions are
accounted for as secured borrowings. Accordingly, following a sale, the municipal bonds remain on the books of the
Companies. Certain debt securities that management has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are
classified as "held to maturity’ and recorded at amortized cost. Trading sacurities are recorded at fair value with
changes in fair value included in earnings. Securities not classified as held to maturity or trading, are classified as
“syailable for sale” and recorded at fair value, with unrealized gains and iosses excluded from eamings and reported
in other comprehensive income.

Purchase premiums and discounts are recognized in interest income using the interest methed over the terms of the
securitias. Declines in the fair value of held fo maturity and available for sale sscurities below their cost that are
deamed to be other than temporary are reflected in eamings as realized losses. In determining whether other-than-
temporary impairment exists, management considers many factors, including (1) the length of time and the extent to
 which the fair vaiue has been less than cost, (2) the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, and (3)
the intent and ability of the Companies to retain their investment in the issuer for a period of time sufficient to aliow for
any anficipated recovery in fair value, Gains and losses on the sale of securities are recorded on the trade date and
are defermined using the specific identification method.
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Greystone Select Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Poficies {Continued)

Property and equipment. Property and equipment are recorded af cost, net of accumuiated depreciation.  Major
improvements are capitalized and repairs are expensed when incurred. Depreciation is calcuiated using the straight-
line method over the assels’ useful fives as foliows: computers, software, office furnifure and equipment, 3fo 7 years,
building, 39 vears; and teasehold improvements, the shorter of the usaful life of the improvement or the lease ferm.

Morigaoe Servicing Riohts (MSRsh  Serviging recognizes as a separate asset and liability, the MSRs which are
retained through a securifization, 2 sale, o purchase of financial assets. As of January 1, 2007, the Company
adopted SFAS No. 166, Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assefs. Under SFAS No. 158, the Company has
elected fo subsequently measure servicing assets and liabilties at fair value and report changes in fair vaiue in
earnings in the period in which the changes ocour. Changes in value are recognized in the fair value of the MSRs
and are netted against servicing fess. Servicing fees are recognized on an accrual basis. Late fees and ancillary
income are recorded as income when payments are racelved.

Dervative insiruments: Derivative instruments are recognized on the consolidated balance sheet at fair value. For
derivatives related to morigage loans held for sale, fair value is the market value of the sales commitment. The fair
value measurements consider observable data that may include loan type, spreads for other whole foans and
mortgage-backed securities, prepayment speeds, sewvicing values and index values. For derivatives refated to loans
rated locked but not yet funded, the fair value is the valug of the sales confract since the loans are pre-sold fo third
party investor . Fair values for ail derivative instruments are based on third-party quotes and changes in fair value
are reported in the consolidated statement of income.

Real estate: Real estate is classified as foliows: (i} Real estate heid for sale, which includes completed assets or
tand for sale in its present condition that meet all of the SFAS Statement No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, “held for sale” criteria, and (ii) Real estate under development, which includes real
estate that the Companies are in the process of developing that is expected to be completed and disposed of in the
future,

Real estate held for sale is recorded at the lower of cost or fair value less cost to sell. If an assef's fair value less -
cost to sell, based on discounted future cash flows, management estimates or market comparisons, is less than its

carrying amount, an allowance s recorded against the asset. Real estate under development is carried at cost.

When acguiring, developing and constructing real estate assets, the Companies capitalize costs in accordance with
SEAS Statement No. 34, Capitalization of Inferest Costs and SFAS Statement No. 57, Accounting for Costs and the
Initial Rental Operations of Real Estate Propsrties. Capitalization begins when the activities refated to development
have begun and ceases when activities are complete. Costs capitaiized under SFAS No. 67 include pursuit costs, or
pre-acquisition/pre-construction costs, taxes and insurance, and development and construction costs.

Trust hiability, Funding purchases municipal bonds in the market and may subsequently fransfer the bonds fo trusis
in exchange for cash  Each trust then issued long-term certificates to third-party invesiors for cash. These
iransactions are accourted for as secured borrowings. Accordingly, following the transfer to a trust, the municipal

bonds remain on the books of Funding.
Funding may puschase the residual inferest (residual interest tax-exempt securities or RITES) related fo the trust

This residual interest is a variabie interest in the related trust, and Funding is the primary beneficiary of the trust
Accordingly, Funding has consolidated the frust. The fiability of the trust is represented as frust fiability.
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Greystone Select Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {Continued)

Mlowance for iosses on loans sold with recourse: In connection with the underwriting and sale of certain mortgage
ioans in accordance with the FNMA DUS program, the Companies estimate a liahility for its potential exposure under
fhe loss agreement with FNMA. The Companies provide for such exposures at the time the loans are soid based
upon managament's estimate of losses incurred. Actual losses on loans sold with recourse are charged against the
allowance and the aliowance is adjusted tarough a provision for foans sold with recourse o earnings. Management
beliaves that the fiability for foans sold with recourse is adequate to provide for probable losses related to loans soid

with recourse cbligations.

Revenue recoaniion Inferest income is recognized when contractualty eamed on the unpaid principal balance of
loans, Servicing revenus Is recognized as payments are due, on an accrual basis, and Is based on a perceniage of
the principal batance of the respective loans. ioan servicing expenses are charged fo operations when incurred.
Realized trading gains and losses are recorded a the trade date of the security as the difference between the trading
price of the specific security and the current carrying amount. Unrealized trading gains and losses are recorded a
the halance sheet date as the difference between the fair value of he specific security and the current carrying
amount.

Income taxes: The Companies have elected to be taxed as subchapter S carporations or limited liability companies
for income tax purposes. Accordingly, the stockholdermember of the Companies wilt be responsible for income
taxes, The Companies are subject fo some state and local income and franchise taxes in certain jurisdictions in
which they operate and have expensed these amounts in accordance with the provisions of SFAS Statement No.
108, Accounting for Income Taxes.

Deferred revenue, Management fee income represents up-front fees received for managing the affairs of certain
equity method investments. This management fae income is recognized over the seven-year tax credit period ofthe
related loan receivable which represents the asset under management.

Reclassifications:  Cerain accounts in the individual companies’ financial statements have been reclassified to
conform to the consclidated presentation, The reclassifications made to these financial statements had no impact on
member's equity or net income.

Transfer of financial assets Transfers of financial assets are accounted for as sales, when control over the assets
has been surrenderad, Control over fransferred assets is deemed to be surendered when (1) the assets have been
isolated from the Companies, (2) the transferee obtains the right (free of conditions that constrain it from taking
advantage of that right) to pledge or exchange the ‘ransferred assets, and (3) the Companies do not maintain
effective controi over the transferred assats through an agreement to repurchase them before their maturity.
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Greystone Select Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Becently issued accounting standards: in September 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
issued SFAS Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (SFAS No. 157). SFAS No. 1587 defines falr value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures ahout fair value measurement. SFAS No.
157 alse emphasizes that fair value is a marketbased measurement, not an enfity-spacific measurement, and sets
out a fair value ierarchy with the highest priority being quoted prices in active markets. Under SFAS No. 157, fair
value measurements are disclosed by level within that hierarchy. The Companies adopted SFAS No. 157 for the
fiscal year Deginning January 1, 2008, except for nonfinencial assets and nonfinancial liabilities that are recognized
ar disclosed &t fair value in the financial statements on a nonrecurring basis for which delayed application is
permitted until fiscal year beginning January 1, 2009, The Companies are currently assessing the potential affect of
the adoption of the remaining provisions of SFAS No. 157 on their consolidated financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.

in December 2007, FASR issued SFAS Statement No. 141(revised), Business Combinations. The Statement
establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures tangible assels acquired,
liabilities assumed, goodwill and any noncontralling inferests and identifies related disclosure requirements for
business combinations. Measurement requirements will result in all assets, liabilties, contingencies and contingent
consideration being recorded at fair vaiue on the acquisifion date, with Timited exceptions. Acquisition costs and
restructuring costs wiil generally be expensed as incurred. This Statement is effective for business combinations for
which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after
December 15, 2008, Accordingly, this Statement is effective for the Companies for business combinations in which
the acquisition date is on or after January 1, 2008,

In December 2007, FASB issued SFAS Statement No. 160, Nonconirolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Siatements — an amendment of ARB No. 51. The Statement establishes accounting and reporfing standards for
noncontrolling interests in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary, Minority interests will be
recharacterized as noncontrolling interests and classified as a component of equity. it also establishes a single
method of accounting for changes in @ parenfs ownership interest in a subsidiary and requires expanded
disclosures. This Statement is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008. Accordingly, this
Statement is effective for the Companies beginning on January 1, 2008. The Companies are currently evaluating the
impact that the adoption of this Stalement will have on their consolidated financia! position and results of aperations.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS Statement No. 161, Disciosurss about Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities—an amendmeni of FASB Statement No. 133 {SFAS No. 181). SFAS No. 161 requires enhanced
disclosures about an entity's derivative and hedging aciivities. This Statement is effective for financial stalements
issued for periods beginning after November 15, 2008, wih early application encouraged. The Companies will adopt
the Standard as of January 1, 2008, SFAS Ne. 161 requires only additional disciosures conceming derivatives and
hedging activities, and therefore the adoption of SFAS No. 184 will not have an impact on the Companies’
consolidated financial position and results of operations.
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Greystone Select Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {Continued)

On February 20, 2008, the FASB issued FGP No. FAS 140-3, Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets and
Repurchase Financing Transactions (FSP 140-3). FSP 140-3 requires that an initial transfer of a financial asset and
a repurchase financing that was entered into confemporaneously with, or in contemplation of, the initial transfer be
evaluated together as a linked transaction under SFAS No. 140, unless certain criteria are met. This Statement is
effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. Accordingly, this Statement is effective for the
Cornpanies beginning on January 1, 2008, The Companies are currently evaluating the impact that ihe adoption of
this Statement will have on their consolidated financial position and resutlts of operations.

In July 2008, the FASB issued Interpretaion No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes {FIN 48). FIN 48
clarfies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in
accordance with SFAS Statement No. 108, Accounting for income Taxes. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold
and measurement attibute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position faken or
expected 1o be taken in & tax return. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition of tax benefits, classification on
ihe batance sheet, interest and penalties, accounting in inferim periods, disclosure, and transition. In December
2008, the FASB provided for a deferral of the effective date of FIN 48 for certain nonpublic enterprises fo annual
financial statements for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. The Companies have elected this deferral
and accordingty will be required to adopt FIN 48in its 2009 annual financial statements. Prior to adoption of FIN 48,
the Companies will confinue to evaluate their uncertain tax positions and related income tax contingencies under
SEAS No. 5. SFAS No. 5 requires the Companies to acorue for losses they helieve are probable and can be
reasonably estimated. Management is currenty assessing the impact of FIN 48 on its consclidated financial position

and results of operations.

Note 3. Concentrations of Risk

Availabiity of fundina source; The Companies fund substantially all of their debt securties and morigage oans
through funding agreements (Note 13}. Any failure to renew or obtain adequate funding agreemenis could have a
materially adverse effect on the Companies' operations. Some of the Companies funding agreements contain daily
mark to market provisions. If the market vaiue of the underlying mortgage loans drops below a predetermined
threshold then the Companies have 24 hours fo meet the required payment fo bring the coliateral balance back
ahove the threshold. In the event the Companies fail to make the margin call, the funding agreement would be in
default. As of December 31, 2008, there were o defaults related to these agreements and the market values of the
loans were above the predetermined thresholds. To the extent that the Companies are not successful in maintaining
or replacing funding, there may be a negative impact on the Companies’ operations.

Geographic concentration: The Companies service morigage loans in 50 states and the District of Columbia. At
December 31, 2008, 22% of the doliar value of the ioans serviced were coliateralized by properties tocated in New
York No cther siate, except Califomia and Texas, accounied for more than 10% of the servicing porifolio at
December 31, 2008.

Credit risk: The Companies are exposed fo credit risk refated fo uninsured mortgage loans. Also, the Companies

maintain cash in bank deposit accounts, which al fimes excesd faderally insured fimits. The Companies do not
helieve they are exposed to any significant credit risk in such accounis.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 3.  Concentrations of Risk (Continued)

Inferest rate risk: The Companies profitability is in part determined by the difierence, or “spread,” between the
chactive rate of interest received on morigage related securities and receivables and the interest payable under
funding agreements  Additionaliy, the fair value of morigage loans, morigage-backed securities, and morigage
servicing rights owned by the Companies may he adversely affected by certain changes in the interest rate
environmerit which couid affect the discount rate and prepayment assumptions used fo value the assefs. Any such

adverse change in rates combined with the impact on such assumptions could have a materially adverse effect on
the Companies’ consclidated results from operations and financiai condition.

Forward contract risk. The Companies enter into forward delivery sales contracts when they lock interest rates on
their mortgage ican originations, The Companies do not believe they are exposed to any significant risk for non-
performance as their counter-parties are investment banks and large regional broker dealers. .

riy Rate Lock Risk Under the FNMA and FHA programs, Servicing from fime to time may enter info an early rate
iock commitment at a specified interest rate with a prospective borrower and certain future contracts may be entered
into to minimize interest rate exposure. The fair valugs of the resulting derivatives are recorded in the actompanying
halance sheet and the derivatives are further discussed in Note 20, ’

Guarantess, The Companies are approved to sefl and service DUS loans under a contract with FNMA,  Under this
loss sharing agreement with FNMA, the Companies are responsile for the first loss on defauited loans up to 5% of
the unpaid principal balance of any such loan. Losses after the first 5% are shared by the Companies and FNMA
based upon a formula. The maximum loss risk to the Companies is 20% of the original principal balance for loans
originated under this program. The outstanding principal balance of loans serviced under this program totaled
$5.292 727 872 at December 31, 2008. A reserve of $0 889,624 for the loss exposure on the FNMA portfolio was
recorded as of December 31, 2008. See additional disclosure in Note 23,

There were no loans originated under this program that as of December 31, 2008 were on non-accrual status. As of
December 31, 2008, there were six foans that were delinquent greater than 30 days, secured by real estate, but not
in foreclosure. The unpaid principal balances of these icans were 6,365,318 as of December 31, 2008.

Off.balance sheet activiies The Companies &lso manage various escrow cash accounts on behalf of borrowers.
The approximate balances of these escrow accounts were $191,000,000 as of December 31, 2008.

Note 4. Fair Value Measurements

Efiective January 1, 2008, the Companies determine the fair market vaiues of their financiat instruments in
sccordance with GAAP based on the fair value hierarchy established in SFAS Ne. 157. SFAS No. 157 defines fair
valug as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid fo transfer a fiability in an orderly transaction
hotween market participants at the measurement date. SFAS No. 157 establishes a fair value hierarchy that
prioritizes the use of inputs used in valuation methodologies info the following three levels:

Level1 - Inputs to the valuation methodciogy are quoted prices, unadjusted, for identical assets or

liabilities in active markets. A guoted price in an active market provides the most refiable
evidence of fair value and shall be used tc measure fair value whenaver available.
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Note 4.  Fair Value Measurements {Continued)

Level 2 ~ inputs to the valuation mathodology include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in
active markefs; quoted prices for identicat or simitar assets of liabilities in markets that are not
active: or other inputs that are derived principally from or can be corroborated by cbservable
market data by correlation or other means.

Level 3 — Inputs to the valuation methodoiogy are unohservable and significant to the fair value
measurement, Level 3 assefs and fiabiliies include financial instruments whose value is
determined using discounted cash flow methodologies, as well as instruments for which the
determination of fair value requires significant management judgment or gstimation.

A description of the valuation methodologies used for instruments measured at fair value, as well as the general
classification of such instruments pursuant fo the valuation hierarchy, is set forth below, These valuafion
methodologies were applied to afl of the Companies’ financial assels carried at fair value or the lower of cost or fair
vaiue effective January 1, 2008.

Trading Securities. Fair value measurement is obtained from independent pricing services which utilize observable
data that may inciude dealer quotes, market spreads, cash flows, the U.S. Treasury yield curve, five trading levels,
trade execution data, market consensus prepayment speeds, credit information and the bends' terms and conditions,
among other things. As of December 31, 2008, all of the Companies' trading securities were valued using Level Z
inputs.

Availabie for Sale Securities. Fair value measurement is obtained from independent pricing services which utilize
ohservable data that may include dealer quotes, market spreads, cash flows, the U.S. Treasury vield curve, live
trading levals, trade execution data, market consensus prepayment speeds, credit information and the bonds' terms
and conditions, among other things. As of December 31, 2008, ai of the Companies’ available for sale securities
were valued using Level 2 inputs with the exception of three subordinate bends refated to a muttifamily housing
project that were valued using Level 3 inputs.

Derivatives. Derivaiives are reported at fair value using Level 2 inputs. For derivatives related to mortgage loans
held for sale, fair value is the market value of the sales commitment.  The fair value measuremenis consider
cbservable data that may includz loan type, spreads for other whole loans and morigage-backed securities,
prepayment speeds, servicing vatue and index values. For derivatives related to ioans rate locked but not funded,
the fair value is the value of the sales contract since the loans are pre-sold to third party investors.

Morigage Servicing Rights. Mortgage servicing rights are reported at fair vaiue using Level 3 inputs. Management
engages an independent third party to perform a valuation of its mortgage servicing rights pericdically and at year
end. Morigage servicing rights are valued in accordance with SFAS No. 156 and SFAS Ne. 140 using discounted
cash flow modeling techniques that require management o make estimates ragarding future net servicing cash
fiows, taking info consideration actual and expected mortgage Ioan prepayment rates, discount rates, servicing costs,
and other sconomis factors. Certain adjustments to inputs are made to refiect the spacific characteristics of the

Companies' portiolio.

Mortgage Loans Held for Safe. Multifamily loans held for sale are reporied on an individual loan basis at the lower of
-~ cost or fair value using Level 3 inputs. For these loans, the Companies have already sold the security backed by the
multifamily loan fo an investor, The fair value measurements consider observable data that may include loan type,
spreads for other whole joans and mortgage-backed securifies, prepayment spesds, servicing values, and index
values,
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Note 4.  Fair Value Measurements {Continued}

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
identical Observable Unobservabie
Assels inputs Inputs Total Fair
(Level 1) {Level 2) (Level 3) Value
Assets measured at fair value on
a racurring basis:
Derivatives $ - % 5035884 § - % 5035864
Trading securities - 30,577,111 - 30,577,111
Avallable for sale securifies oo- 207,371 466 9,936,621 717,308,287
Morigage servicing rights - - 73,746,842 73,746,842
| iabilities measured at fair value on
a recurring basis:
Derivatives - 798,587 - 798,587
Morigage servicing liabiiities - - 345,885 345,985
Asssis measured at fair value on
a nonrecurring basis: .
Morigage ioans held for sale - - 2513074 2,513,074

A reconciliation of assels and liabiiities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3) during the perod is presented below.

Far Value Measuremenis
Using Significant Unobservable Inputs

Level 3
Available Mortgage
For Sale Servicing
Securities Righis Total

Raiance January 1, 2008, net $ 10,015,000 §$ 70949398 § 50,064,398
Total net gains or (losses) (realizedfunrealized) .
included in net income . (7.428,568) {7,428,568)
Originations, sales, and seftiements, net (78,179 9,880,027 9,801,848
Balance December 31, 2008, net $ 90936821 § 73400857 § 83337678

No transfers in or out of the Level 3 classification occurred during 2008.
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Note4.  Fair Value Measurements (Continued)

The Companies have no nonfinancial assets or nonfinancial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis. in
accordance with Financial Accounfing Standards Board (FASE) Siaff Position No. 157-2, Effective Date of FASBE
Siatement No. 157, the Companies will delay application of SFAS No. 457 for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial
labilities measured on a nonrecurring basis, until January 1, 2008.

SFAS No. 107, Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments (SFAS No. 107), requires disclosure of fair
value information about financial instruments, whether or not recognized in the balance sheet. Fair value is
determined under the framework established by SFAS No. 157. SEAS No. 107 excludes certain financial
instruments and ail nonfinancial instruments from its disclosure requirements. Accordingly, the aggregate fair value
amounis presented may not necessarily represent the underying falr value of the Companies. The following
information presents estimated fair values of the Comparies’ financial instruments as of December 31, 2008 and the
methods and assumptions used to estimate those fair values,

Carrying Estimated
Amounts Fair Value

Financial assefs;
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

=
2
&

12,048,694 § 12,0488%4
39,568,614 39,568,614

o
RS

Accrued interest receivable (a) 14,015,125 14,015,126
Accourts receivable {a) 3,760,831 3,760,831
Mortgage loans held for sale {b) 52,767,573 53,909,142
Mortgage loans held for invesiment (c) 290,999,013 280,989,013
Investments in frading securities (b) 30,577,411 30,577,111
investmeants in available for saie securities (by 217,308,287 217,308,287
Investments in held to maturity securities 0 44 946 462 42,098,982
Mortgage servicing rights Ib) 73,746,842 73,746,842
Notes receivable (2) 58,889 802 58,899,502
Notes recefvable, related parties {e) 48 587,689 48,966,092
Due from refated parties (a) 742995 742,995
Servicing advances {a) 3,699,851 3,689,851
Derlvatives {0 5,035,864 5,035,864
Financial liabilities:
Funding agreements {dy 601,317,875 801,317,875
Credit facility fee payable (a) 8,970,000 8,970,000
Notes payable, related parfies {&) 2,050,000 2,064,676
Accounts payable (a} 2,520,099 2,520,688
Note payable (&) 120483402 120,582,579
Trust fiability {d) 44,405,000 44 405000
Due to related parties {a) 72,249 72,249
Aocrued interest payabie (a) 1,538,269 1,538,265
Derivatives (b} 798,587 798,587
Morigage servicing iiabilities (b 345,985 345,985
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Note 4.
(a)

(b)
)

Fair Value Measurements (Continued)

Carrying values were used as the estimate of fair value. Applicable financial instruments are short ferm in
nature, samn a variable rate of interest, or were sattled subseguent to year end.

Refer fo discussion of fair value determination discussed above,

Morigage foans held for investment consist of multi-family bridge loans intended to be held unti maturity.
These are variable rate loans. Carrying amounis of the bridge loans are reasonable estimates of their fair
value due fo their adjustable rate and frequent repricing.

Carrying amounts of the funding agreements and trust liabifity are reasonable estimates of their falr value
due to thelr adjustable rates.

The fair value for notes payable and related party notes recaivable with fixed inferest rates is estimated
using a discounted cash fiow calculation that applies current market interest rates. Tha outstanding balance
of the related party revolving credit agreement represents its fair value,

The fair value for held to maturity securities is obtained from independent pricing services which uiilize
observable data that may include dealer quotes, market spreads, cash flows, the U.S. Treasury vield curve,
five trading levels, trade execufion data, market consensus prepayment speeds, credit information and the
honds’ terms and conditions, among other things.

The fair vaiue estimates as of December 31, 2008, were based on market data and other relevant information
available at the fime of valuation. Some fair values, because of little or no market for the related instruments, may be
based on expected future foss experience, current economic conditions and other characteristics, These estimates
are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters of judgment, and therefore do not represent axact
information. Changes in market conditions and assumptions could significantly affect these estimates.

Note 5,

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash as of December 31, 2008, consists of the foliowing:

Amounts pledged under terms of repurchase agreemenis § 30,315,848
Amounts held as collaterat for futures transactions 75,600
Amounts heid for payment on & credit facility 8,970,000
Amounts pledgad under terms of a letter of credit 189,464
Other 17,702
$_ 39568614

Note 6. Servicing Advances

Servicing advances consist of amounts disbursed fo cover mortgagor principal and interest shortfalls, taxes and
insurance on mortgages serviced by the Companies Repayment is guaranteed for servicing advances made on FHA
mortgages by the respective government agency. The amount of servicing advances as of December 31, 2008 was

$3.69¢,851.
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Note 7. Notes Receivable
Notes receivable as of December 31, 2008, consist of the following:

Promisscry note with an inferest rate of 8% per annum. A monthly instaliment
of principal and interest in the amount of $89,950 is due commencing January 1,
2009, All outstanding principal and interest is due in full on December 1, 2013, 3 5,157,806

Promissory note with maximum principal amounts of $9,000,000,
The note bears interes at 8% per annum. All outstanding interest
and principal is due in fuli on Aprit 1, 2609, 7844970

Various notes receivable, all under $350,000, with fixed interest rates
ranging from 1% to 10% and various matusities ranging from Fepruary 19,
2008 to November 1, 2034 1,744,955

Various lines of credits with Not-for-Profit Organizations 1o a maximum of
$13.700,000, with an interest rate equal to the Applicable Federal Rate, adjusted
manthiy. All outstanding interest and principal is due in full on September 30, 2017. 5,747,282

Revolving fine of credit with a Not-for-Profit QOrganization to a maximum of

$3.750,000, with an interest rate of 6% per annum. All outstanding interest and

orincipat is dus in full at the eartier of the date that the morigage loan on the muit-

family housing project is paid in full or refinanced or the date that the HUD

insurance on the multifamily housing project mortgage loan is terminated. 2,883,824

Revolving credit agreament not to exceed $750,000 bearing interest
at a rate of 8% per annum, for a one-year term with automatic renewal. 616,779

Promissary note with an interest rats of Prime plus 3.25% per annum.
Al outstanding interest and principal is due in'fuli on Qctober 12, 2008,

The promissory note was paid off in March 2008 35,752,644
Gross 55,751,260

| ess aliowance for uncollectable receivables {851,358)
Net § 588099902

A provision for fosses for uncoliectable notes receivable and interest of $851,358 and $136,843, respectively, was
recognized for the year ended December 31, 2008,
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Mofe 8, .Notes Receivable - Related Parties
Notes receivable - related parties as of Decernber 31, 2008, consist of the foliowing:

Promissory riote with maximum principal amount of $8,000,000 bearing interest at
a rate of 6% per annum. All cutstanding interest and principal is due the earlier of
February 28, 2013 or the date the affiliate fransfers the property. $

Promissary note not to exceed $75,000,000 bearing interest at a rate of 7%
per annum. interast is payable quarterly in arrears and all outstanding inferest

and principal is due on May 31, 2017,

Promissery note with variable interest rate based on one-month LIBOR plus 2%.
interest is payable monthly and all outstanding interest and principal is due in full
on October 15, 2012,

Revolving line of credit to a maximum of $300,000 with an inferest rate of 6% per
annum. All oustanding interest and principal is due in full at the earlier of the dale
that the mortgage loan on the housing project is paid in full or refinanced or the

date that the HUD insurance on the housing project morigage ioan is ferminated.

Promissory note with an interest rate of 6% per annum. All oustanding interest and
principal is due on January 31, 2010.

- 1,441,554

46,370,318

492,159

273,503

10,055

48,567 589

Note 8, Investments

Trading securities, at fair value, consist of the following:

Trading securifies:
{J.S. government and agency securities 3

30,577 141

As of December 31, 2008, fotal unrealized losses on trading securifies were $1 ,289,128,
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Note9.  Investments (Continued)

The amortized costs and fair values of available for sale and held to maturity securities as of December 31, 2008, are
summarized as follows:

Gross (5ross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost (Gains Losses Vaiue

Available for sale securities:
GNMA and FHA securities $ 203,741,683 % 1047920 $  (1,273273) § 204,416,330

Interest-only sirips 1,069,286 1,188,437 {232,454) 2,025,269

Municipal bonds 5422460 5,585,228 (141,000) 10,866,688
Total available for sale

securities o 210233420 $ 8721585 §  (1.646727) $ 217.308.287

Held to maturity securities,

Municipal bonds transferred
to frusts $ 44946462 3 058§ (2.847728) § 42008992

Availabie for sale and held to maturity securities include U.S. government and agency securities, GNMA and FHA
(multifamily} securities, interest-only strips and municipal bonds purchased in the market. Some of these municipal
bonds are subsequently transferred fo a trust in exchange for cash. For the bonds that were transferred info a trust
the fransactions were accounted for as secured borrowings. Accordingly, following a sale, the municipal bonds
remain on the bocks of the Companies. Substantially all of the securities, not inciuding the municipal bonds
transferred to trusts, are pledged as collaterat under cartain funding agresments {Note 13). The municipal bonds
iransferred to the trust are collateral for the frust kabiiity. During 2008, the Companiss liguidated certain of these
frusts fo limit its exposure fo the declining tax-exempt bond markets, The remaining frust is heid to maturify and there
are no mark fo market requirements inside the frust. Proceeds of $6,891,296 from bond maturities and $252,097,800
from bonds sold were used fo repay variable rate cerfificates with a par value of $270,824,021. At December 31,
2008, the Companies owned one residual interest certificate.

On January 1, 2008, municipal bonds transferred to a certain trust in 2007 were transferrad info the held to maturity
category from the available for sale category as a result of the Companies’ intent and ability fo hold to maturity the
residual interest certificate issued by the trust and the frust agreement expressly prohibiting the residual interest
certificate holder from liquidating the trust. The fair value on the date of transfer was $64,079,419. Af December 31,
2008, net unrealized holding losses of $285,403 from the date of transfer is included in accumuiated other
comprehensive income,

For the year ended December 31, 2008, gross realized gains on the redemption of held to maturity securiiies were
$0,393 and gross realized losses on the redemption of heid to maturity securities were $158,328. The held 1o
maturity securifies were redeemed as & result of the prepayment of the underlying mortgage loans that backed these
securities.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, gross realized gains on the sales of available for sale securiies were
%0 573 875, and gross realized losses on the sale of available for sale securities were $7,282,702.
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Note9. Investments (Continued)

The amorized cost and fair value of securities at Decermber 31, 2008, by contractual maturity, are shown below.
Expected maturities may differ from contraciual maturities because horrowers may have the right io call or prepay
obligations with or without call or prepayment penalfies.

Amorized Fair
Cost Valig
Dbt securities avaitable-for-sale: _
Due in tess than 1 year $ - &
Duein1-5years - -
Dugin 6-10 years 6,255,860 11,832,983
Due after 10 years 203,977 568 205,475,324

s 210233429 _§ 217.308.287

Debt securities held-to-maturity:
Due in less than 1 year $ - %
Dugin1-5years -

Due in 6 - 10 years
Due after 10 years

44946462 - 42,098,992
$ 44948452 § 42008007

Information pertaining to securities with gross unrealized losses at December 31, 2008, aggregated by investment
category and ‘ength of fime that individual securities have been in a continuous loss position, is summarized as

follows:

Less than 12 Months Ower 12 Months Total
Gross Gross Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unseelized Fait
|.osses Fair Value tosses Fair Value Logses Value
Avallzbie-for-sale securities:
GNMA and FHA securities $  (97687) $21B40,318 §(1,175,586) § 36,508,770 $(1273.273) 8 58,345,088
inferest-only strips (232,454 836,833 - - (232,454} 836,833
Municipal bonds - . {141,000 997,325 {141,000 997,325
Total temporarily impaired
avaﬁabie.fgpsa}e SBCUﬂﬁES 5 (330.141) $ 22,671151 $ {1 ,316,585) $ 37,508,095 $ (1 ,646,727) $ 80118324‘6

Held-to-maturity securifies,

municipal bonds transferred
to trusts, temporarly impaired $ 419304) §14,254256  §(2428334) § 25802084 $(2,847,728) § 40,058,340
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Note 9. Investments (Continued)
The Companies periodically review thelr available for sale and held to maturity securities for other than temporary

impairment. The Companies recognized an otherthan-temporary impairment of $282,804 on one available for sale
security and $382,670 on one held to maturity security at December 31, 2008. As a resuit of the impairment, the cost
nasis of the avaltable for sale security and held fo maturity security was adjusted to $34,750 and $6,090,189,
respactively. The remaining unrealized losses are atiributable o changes in interest rates. Management has both

the intent and ability to hoid these securities for the time necessary 1o recover the amortized cost.

Note 10.  Property and Equipment
Property and equipment as of December 31, 2008, consist of the following:

Cost:

Land $ 137,500
Buildings, office space 3,252,560
Building improvements 543,848
Office equipment and furniture 4,332,968
Leasehold improvements 371,254

Total 8,738,530
Accumulated depreciation (3,693,307

Net property and equipment $ 5045273

Depreciation expense charged fo operations was $694,036 for the year ended December 31, 2008.

Note 1.  Real Estate
Real estate under deveiopment and reat estate held for sale as of December 31, 2008 consist of the foliowing:

Real estate under development:

Land $ 13,928,600
Apartment and condominium complexes ' 8,485,267
Total real estate under development § 22414 867
Real estate held for sale:
Homes and condominiums for sale $ 4,681,387
Lower of cost or fair value adjustment {375,000)
Net real estate heid for sale $ 4316387

25



Greystone Select Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note i2.  Mortgage Servicing Rights (MSR’s)

The following table presents the activity of the Companies’ morigage servicing rights (MSRs), net, for the year ended
December 31, 2008.

Mortgage servicing rights:

Batance, beginning of period, net $ 70,940,308
Additions, capitalized upon loan sales 23,214,930
Disposals due to sale (13,334,903}
Change in falr value {7 428.568)
Mortgage servicing rights, end of period, net $ 73400857
Mortgage servicing rights, end of period $ 73,746,842
Mortgage servicing liability, end of period (345,985)
Total $  73400.857

The fair value of MSRs is determined by obtaining a market valuation from an independent MSR broker. The
estimated fair value of MSRs is determinad by reference to the discounted future net servicing income, as stratified in
accardance with one or more predominant risk characteristics of the undarlying loans. The Companies stratify their
MSRs by product fype, program type, inferest rate and investor to reflect the predominant risk characteristics. The
valuation s stratified further by whether the underlying loan is a supplemental of first Ioan and based on debt service
coverage. The Companies incorporate assumpfions that other morigage servicers use in estimating future net
servicing income, which includes, among other assumptians, estimates of the cost of servicing per loan, including
incremental interest cost of servicer advances, foreclosure and delinquency expenses and losses, the discount rates,
float value, inflation rate, ancilary income per loan, prepayment speeds and default rates (see chart below).
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Note 12. Mortgage Servicing Rights (MSR's) {Continued)

Estimate of the cost of servicing the loan:

FHA insured icans $600 1o $1,200
FNMA DUS loans and FNMA Cther $1,300 to $2,500
FNMA 3MAX loans $2,000

Mortgage Loan Enforcement & Administration:
Corporation/NY Job Development Authority

Loans $1.500

Masier servicing $600
Discount rate:

FHA loans 8.00%

All other non FHA loans 41.00% fo 25.00%
inflation rate 2% 10 4%
Ancillary income per loan $350
Prepayment speeds:

FHA loans (% during lockout

period, 2% to 25%
depending on note rate

Agency and conventional loans | 0% during lockout

period, 2% to 25%
depending on nofe rate

Al other 0% during fockout
period, 2% to 25%
depending on note rate

The FHA mortgage semvising rights secure certain funding agreements (Note 13).
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Note 13.  Funding Agreements

Revolving credit facilities and repurchase agreements with interest rates ranging from
the one-month LIBOR plus 0.45% to the Federal Funds Rate plus 1.40%. Most
agreements terminate upon demand and are secured by certain securities and
morigages. Interest is paid monthiy.

Repurchase agreement with a variable interest rate, The agresment is secured by
nonconforming and delinguent, government insurad, one-to-four unit residential mortgages.
Principal is payable as coflections are received and from insurance assignments of

the defaulted mortgages. Interest accrues at 1.4% over the daily Federal Funds Rate.

A credit facility with & maximum amount available of $25,000,000 explres

March 31, 2009, The credit facility is secured by advances made under this

facitty and all principal, inferest, fax and insurance advances as well as certain
morigaging servicing rights. The interest rate on the notes are 2.00% over one-month
LIBOR and are payable monthly. This facility was replaced with a $12,000,000

sublimit on 2 new $30,000,000 agency warehouse credit fine as of December 31, 2008.
The new faciiity was not utiized untit March 2009,

A warehousing credit fine with a maximum amount available of $75,000,000 expiring
December 14, 2008, The line of credit is secured by an interast in the underlying properties
for which an advance is made under the agreement. The interest rate is 2.0% over cne-month
LIBOR.

A warahouse credit line with & maximum amount available of $85,000,0(0 expiring

on February 1, 2010. The fine of credit is secured by an inferest in the underlying
properties for which an advance is made under the agresment. No new investments
were permitted after February 1, 2008. The credit facility is permitied to paydown from
the cash fiow as the mortgages held for investmant pay off pursuant to the terms of the
mortgage note or when the morigage is refinanced. The interest rate is 1.45% to 1.65%
aver one-month LIBOR. Guaranteed by a related party.

A warehouse credit line with a maximum amount availabie of $250,000,000 expiring

on March 31, 2009. The line of credit is secured by an interest in the underlying propertias

for which an advance Is made under the agreement. No new investments were permitted after
the March 31, 2008. The credit facility is permitted 1o paydown from the cash flow as the
mortgages heid for investment pay off pursuant to the terms of the mortgage note or when the
mortgage is refinanced, The interest rate is 1.10% aver commercial papar rate,

A revolving credit facility and security agreement with a maximum amount avaiiable

of $25,000,000. Interest is payable in arrears on a quarterly basis. The interest rate
is 1.50% or 2.0% over the three month LIBOR, adjusted quarterly. The facility matures
on July 31, 2012, The outstanding principal and interest is secured by the underlying
ioans made from the advances received from this revolving gredit agreement.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 13 Funding Agreements (Continued)

Participation certificate repurchase agresment with principal and interest paid

monthly at a variable rate equal to the monthly average BMA rate plus 1.7% plus

$17,750. The agreement is coliateralized by the net fulure cash streams of

restricted cash transferred to frusts, The maturity of the investment under the

agresment is December 1, 2025. 27,926,023

Three parficipation certificate repurchase agreements with interest paid semi-annually

for a two-year period with an interest rate of 10% per annum, Collateraiized by

certain FHA mortgage ioans included in investments in debt securities or notes

receivables. The investments under these agreements mature between April 4, 2009

and December 1, 2010 3,840,000

A revolving credit faciiity agreement with a maximum amount availabie of $40,000.600,

The interest rate par annum is equal to the Eurodoliar rate. The faciiity matures

on February 28, 2010. The outstanding principal and interest is secured by the

underlying loans made from the advances funded by this agreement. 29,184,242

A credit facility with a maximum amount available of $100,000,000 expired January 12,

9008. The credit faciiity is secured by all morigage loans held for invastment for which an

advance is made under this facilty. No new investments were permitted after the expiration

date. The credit facility Is permitted to paydown from the cash flow as the mortgages heid for

investment pay off pursuant to the terms of the mortgage note or when the morigage is

refinanced, The interest rate on the notes is 1.85% over cne-month LIBOR and is payable

monthly, This facility was not replaced. Guaranteed by a related party. 18,315,000

A warehouse credit fine with 2 maximum amount available of $6,500,000 expired on

February 1, 2008 and was not renewed. The line of credit was secdred by an interest in the

underlying properties for which an advance was made under the agreement. N new

investments were permitted after the expiration date. The eredit facility is permitted to paydown

from the cash flow as the mortgages held for investment pay off pursuant to the terms of the

mortgage note or when the morigage is refinanced. The interest rate is 13% fo 15% per

annun and is payable monthly. This facility was not raplaced. Guaranteed by a reiated party. 4,050,000

3 B0L37ATS

in Decermber 2008, the Companies closed on two new faciliies with one bank. One facilify is a $30,000,000 agency
warehouse fine: with $12,000,000 sublimit for a working capital ine. The second facility of $30,000,000 is a
repurchase fine for agency securities. No advances were made on these new facilifies as of December 31, 2008.
These facilities expire on December 30, 2008.

Af December 31, 2008, the one-month LIBOR was approximately 0.44%, the Federal Funds Rate was 0.25%, and
the one month Eurodoliar was 0.80%. Interest expense charged o operations from funding agreements was
$25,815,172 for 2008. Some of these funding agreements, and the related derivative instruments, are subject {0
margin calls where the Companies may have to put in additionai collateral, With respect o the above funding
agresments, the Companies must comply with certain loan covenants on a monthly and quarterly basis. The
maximum net worth required under any of the funding agreements is $85,000,000.
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Note 14.  Notes Payable - Related Parties
The Comparies have entered into funding agreements with various related parties fo finance operations:

Four separate unsecured funding agreements with interest rates of

8% each per annum paid monthly. Two principal amounts of $525,000 each

mature on December 31, 2008 and two principal amounts of $500,600

sach mature on July 26, 2009, : $ 2050900

Interest expense charged 10 op_e_eraﬁons from notes payable, related parties was $28,969 in 2008.

Note 15.  Notes Payable

Notes payable as of December 31, 2008 are as follows:

On April 16, 2008, the Companies refinanced the iniial mortgage on their Warrenton, Virginia

tacility with a $6,000,000 mertgage, maturing on April 15, 2018, Monthly principai and interest

payments of $38,880 commenced on May 15, 2008. The mortgagé is a fixed rate note

at .00%. The mortgage is secured by the office faclities. $ 5,929,911

An unsecurad term loan assumed from a refated party expiring on Jupe 1, 2015,
Principal and interest in the amount of $4 000 is payable monthiy. The loan bears
interest af a rate of 7.00% per annum. 278,491

An unsecured term loan in the aggregate amount of $30,000,000 expiring on

May 18, 2010. Principal payments of $1,250,000 are due quarterly through

March 31, 2009; interest only thereafter, inferest on the loan is payable monthly

and the loan bears interest at a rate equal o the Euradollar rate plus 3.00%, 21,256,000

A term loan in the aggregate amount of $1,200,000 expiring on
Decembar 18, 2010. The loan is secured by real estate. Interast on the joan
is payable monthiy and bears interest at 2 rate equai to LIBOR plus 3.25%. 1,200,000

A term loan in the aggregate amount of $15,000,000 expiring on March 27, 2013,
The Inan is coltateralized by common stock in a refated parly. Interest on the ican is
payable monthly and bears interast at a rate equat to Prime Rate minus 1.00%. 15,000,000

Two unsecured notes for $28,000,000 expiring on April 30, 2037 and for $13,125,009
expiring on Juty 30, 2037. The nofes bear interast at a rate equal to three-
monih LIBOR plus 3.70% per annum. interest paymenis are made quarterly. 44,125,000

A term loan in the aggregate amount of $35,700,000 that was repaid on

March 18, 200¢, Theloanis collateralized by a note receivable from a

third party. interest on the loan is payable monthly and the loan bears

interest at a rate equal to the Eurodollar rate plus 2.00%. 35,700,000

$ 120483407
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Note 15. Notes Payable (Continued) _
Maturifies of notes payable at December 31, 2008, are 2s follows:

Year ending December 31

2009 $ 40,839,510
2040 17,588,524
2011 158,122
2012 167,374
2013 15,179,168
Thereafter 46,540,704
§ 120483402

inferest expense charged fo operations was $4,701,430 in 2008.

Note 16.  Operating Leases

The Companies lease certain offices, storage facifities and equipment under operating leases. The future minimum
lease payments are as follows:

Year ending December 3%

2009 $ 1,332,760
2010 1,179,381
2011 1,048,166
2012 309,815
2013 77T

§ 3870899

Rent expense for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $1,205,616.

Note 17. Retirement Plan

The Companies have adopled a 401(K) reftirement plan. Al eligible employees of the affilated companies are
aliowed to parficipate in the plan. The plan allows for employer coniributions; however, the Companies do not match
the employee contributions. No employer coniributicns are made to the plan.

Note 18.  Commitments and Contingencies

The Companies are involvad in fegal proceedings arising in the normat course of business. Management believes
these suits are without merit and the Companies intend o defend or arbitrate against the plaintiffs’ allegations. Itis
too early in the litigation process {0 assess the likelihood of unfavorable outcomes; however, in the opinion of
management, the outcome of such oroceedings currenfly pending will not materially affect the Companies’
consolidated financial statements.
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Note 18. Commitments and Contingencies {Continued)

in the normal course of business, the Caompanies are typically required fo put forth certain guarantees. These
guarantees include:

o A letter of credit for $9,500,000 in favor of ENMA for certain loans originated by the Companies.
« Limited guarantee of a premiumon a GNMA security of $350,000 which amortizes over 10 years.

o Limited guarantes for approximately $2.000,00C on a group of loans valued at $8,000,000 which were sold
to a third party.

The Companies also guaraniee cerain obligations for other entiies under common contro! of the sole
shareholderdmember. These guarantees include:

o  Guarantee of two loans fotaling $14,000,000 secured by a construction project in Pennsylvania.

e Guarantee of an ISDA Master Agreement for swaps. with & maximum netional amount of $10,000,000.
« Limited guarantee of a $47,500,000 ioan secured by a consiruction project in North Carolina,

o  Guarantees of approximately $64,000,000 of tofal lines of credit secured by equipment finance ieases.

o Guarantee of a $10,000,000 loan in connection with equipment purchased for resale in liquidetions, private
sales and auctions.

o Guarantee of a$10,000,000 loan in connection with property acquired to construct condominiums.

o Guarantess of two loans iotaiing $7,000,00C related io an investment company.

o Guaraniees of two lines of credit totaling $500,000 related to a private postal company.

o A limited guarantee of a ican not fo exceed $16.104,.224 with a principat balance of $1,036,084 at
Secember 31, 2008 only appiicable in the event of fraud by the Borrower or a breach by the Borowers
Managing Member of the obligations under the Borrower Operating Agreement that has a material adversa
effect on the Lender.

Management has determined that none of the related parties are in default and they all have sufficient capital to

support their own fiabities. The Companies heve determined there are no material exposures and have not
recorded a liabifity for any of their guarantees.
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Note 19.  Related Party Transactions

The Companies hold notes receivable and payable with related parties {Notes 8 and 14) and provide guarantees for
reiated parties (Note 18).

As of December 31, 2008, Servicing sewviced 5 loans for afffiated companies with combined unpaid principal
balances of $38.077,146. The servicing fees on these loans eamed by Servicing are calculated by percentages,
ranging from .15% to 44% of the unpaid principal balances. Servicing fee income recognized on these loans was
$71 416 for the vear ended Dacember 31, 2008.

Note 20. Derivative Instruments

The Companies are exposed fo market risks related 1o fluctuations in interest rates on its interest rale lock
commitments on loans held for sale and commitments fo sell its morigage joans. The Companies manage the
‘nterest rate risk associated with making foan commitments anc holding mortgage loans for sale by pre-sefling loans
and entering into sale commitments with various third parfies. These iending and sale commitments create derivative
instruments under SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activifies. As of December 31,
2008, derivative instrumenis were comprised of the following:

Asset Liability
Forward sale commitments $ 3518308 §  (208,594)
Forward lending commitments 1,417,555 {510,680)
Futures contracts - (79.313)
§ 5035864 &  (798.587)

Note21.  Mortgage Loans Held for Sale and Mortgage Loans Held for investment

Mortgage loans held for sale consist of conveniional, FHA, aﬁd FNMA DUS loans. Morigage loans held for
investment consist of bridge and cther loans. The mortgage loans held for sale and held for investment as of

December 31, 2008, consist of the following:

Loans held for sale;

FNMA/GNMA toans § 48,776,848
Lower of cost of fair vaiue adjustment (232,374
Deferred loan origination costs, net 8,223 099
$ 52767573
i oans held for invesiment:

Bridge loans § 264,231,599
Other 27,898,765

‘ 292,130,764
Allowarnce for loan losses : (943,365)
Deferred loan origination fees, net {188 386)

$_290.999.013
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Note 21. Mortgage Loans Held for Sale and Morigage Loans Held for investment {Continued)
An analysis of the allowance loan losses for the year ended December 31, 2008 consists of the foliowing:

Ralance af beginning of year £ 477,141
Provision for loan losses 655,674
|.oans charged-off ' (189,450
Recoveries of loans previousty charged-off -

Balance at end of year $ . 943365

Note 22.  Consolidation of Variable interest Entities

The Companies own a residual inferest in & certain asset securitization issued by a trust. The purpose of the trust is
(a} to acquire highly rated tax-exempt municipal bonds and (b} to provide for the creation and ownership certificates
in the form of (i) variable rate certificates (soid to other investors) and (i} residuaf inferest certfficates (residual
inferests acquired by the Companies). As the owner of the residual interest, the Companies receive the interest paid
on the bonds after the payment of interest on the variable rate cerfificates and the payment of fees to the trustee.

This trust is a variable interest enfity (VIE) and the Companies are the primary beneficiary in this VIE as it absorbs
the majority of expecied residual retumns through their ownership of the residual interests in the trust.  Accordingly,
this trust is consolidated by the Companies under Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48(R),
Consolidation of Variable Interest Enfities. -

As of December 31, 2008, the liability of the trust was $44 405,000, The trust liability is collateralized by some of the
assets discussed in Note 9. The rates reset on a weekly basis based on the BMA rate until liquidation of the tust.
Maturities of the trust liabiity at December 31, 2008, are as follows:

Year ending December 31
2009 : $ .
2010 -
2011 -
2012 .
2013 .
Thereafter 44,405,000
§ 44405000
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Note 23.  Allowance for Losses on Loans Sold with Recourse

The Companies’ aliowance for iosses on loans sold with recousse is that amount considered adequate fo absorb
probable losses in the portfolio based on management's evaluations of the size and current risk characteristics of the
sold loan portfolio.  Such evaiuations consider prior loss experience, the risk rating distribution of the portiolios, the
impact of current intemal and external influences on credit loss and the levels of nonperforming loans.  Specific
allowances for losses are established for individual sold lans. The specific aliowances established for these loang is
based on a thorough analysis of the most probable source of repayment, inciuding the present value of the fpan's
expected future cash fiow, the loan's estimated market value, or the estimated fair value of the underlying cofiateral.
As of December 31, 2008, specific allowances totaled $1,470,155. General aliowances are established for the
ENMA portfolio. The general loss is based on the loss sharing agreement with FNMA where the Companies are
responsible for the first loss on defaulted loans up to 5% of the principal balance of any such loan. The maximum
loss risk fo the Companies is 20% of the original principat balance for loans originated where loss sharing Is
applicable. A general reserve of $8,399 469 for the loss exposure on the FNMA portfolio loans sold was recorded as
of Decernber 31, 2008, The FNMA portfolio with recourse totaled $5,292 727,872 as of December 31, 2008.

Note 24,  Subsequent Events

On February 1, 2009, a related party transfered and assigned its 95% membership interest in Greystone
Commercial Services LP to Funding as a pariial repayment of principal on a related party note at a net book value of
$9,519,788 on the date of transfer, Greystone Commercial Services LP is a national factoring and asset-based
fending company. .

35



McGladrey & Pullen

Certified Public Accountants

independent Auditor's Report
on Supplementary Information

To the Management Commitiee
Greystone Select Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries
New York, New York

Our audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic consolidating financial statements as of and
for the year ended December 31, 2008 taken as a whole. The supplementary information is presented for purposes
of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic consolidating financial statements. The supplementary
information as of and for the year ended December 31, 2008, has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied
in the audit of the basic consolidating financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in al material respects
in retation to the basic consolidating financial statements taken as 2 whale.

%W//%/ l o™

Denver, Colorado
April 7, 2008

MeGiadrey & Pullen, LLP s an independant member firm of RSM infernational,
an affiiation of separate and indapendent legal entifies,
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Greystone Select Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Balance Sheet
Desember 31, 2008

Funding Sevicing Setect Elimination Total
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivaients $ 3626498 § 8,294,854  § 127,242 § - & 12,048 694
Rasgtricted cash 30,598,614 8,570,000 - - 39,568,614
Servicing advances - 3,699,851 - - 3,699 851
Accriued interest regetvable 12,031,923 1,883,203 - - 14,015,126
Morigage loans held for sale - 52,767,573 - 52,767 573
Mortgage loens held for investment, net 76,438 681 264,560,332 - 260,999 013
Investments in frading securities 30,135,346 441,768 - 30,577 11
Investments in available for sale securifies 247,308,287 - - - 217,308 287
invastments in held to maturity securifies 44 945 462 - - - 44,848 462
Accounts recelvable 2,271,823 1,489,008 - 3,760,631
Property and equipment, net 10,386 5,034,837 - - 5,045,223
Miortgage servicing rights - 73,746,842 - - 73,746,842
Due from related parties 875,976 - 156,904 (289 885} 742,995
Notes receivable, net 58,145,194 754,708 . - 58,893,502
Notes receivable, related parties 48 587 589 - - - 48,587,588
Derivative instruments 1,151,918 3,883,046 - - 5,035,664
Real estate under development 22,414 867 . - . 2 414,867
Real estata held for sale 4,316, 387 - . - 4,318,387
investment in subsidiaries - - 170,373,963 {170,373,983) -
Cther assels 1,527 384 512,432 1,367 921 - 3,407,737
Total assets 3 ERAAR7A35 § 426139481 8§ 172028030 & 170563848 § 331.888,768
LIABILITIES AND MEMBER'S EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Accounts paveble and accrued expanses 5 758,743 & §1822726 % 54480 % $ 12,635,943
Accrued inferest payable 423523 607,274 507 472 - 1,538,268
Credit faciiity payable - 8,070,000 - - 8,970,000
Funding agreements 266,605,035 305,312,840 - - 601,317,875
Trust fabiiity 44 405,000 - - 44,405,000
Noigs payable 58,428,491 5.929.911 56,125,000 - 120,483,402
Notes payable, related parties 1,050,000 1,000,000 - - 2,050,060
Derivative instruments 78,313 718,274 - . 798,587
Due fo retated parties - 362,134 (289,885) 72,248
Allowance for losses on loans sold with recourse - 9,860,624 - 4 869,624
Deferrad revenue 4,085,625 - . 4085625
Other liahifities 208 851 6,206,304 - - 5,416,255
Total liabilities 405,445 681 350,800,087 56,686 852 {789,885} 812,642 835
MINCRITY INTEREST 3,906,855 - - - 3,806,855
STOCKHOLDER AND MEMBER'S EQUITY
Commoen stock 500 500 - {4,000} -
Additional pald-in cagital - 28,489,667 - (28,459,867}
Retained earmings 88,199,338 46,884 502 . (135,083,540) -
Accumuiated other comprehensive income (loss) 8,834,761 {45,305} 8,785,456 {6,789.458) 6,783,456
Member's squity - - 108.548.622 - 108 549.622
Total stockhoider and member's equity 85,034,599 75,338,364 115,338 078 (170,373,983 115,338,078
Total liabilities, stockholder
-and member's equity b 504,387,135 § 42515045¢ % 172026030 $(170563.848 8 931,888,768
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Greystone Select Holdings LL.C and Subsidiaries

Consolidafing Statement of Income
Year Ended Dacember 31, 2008

Funding Servicing Select Elimination Toial
Revenues,
Inferest income $ 39350812 & 34812584 % - § $ 73,972,376
Gain from sale of merigage loans, net - 42841442 - 42,841,442
Service fee Income, net 38,836 10,311,532 10,350,368
Unrealized galn on derivatives, nel 7,539,485 1,823,994 - - 4383480
Fee and uther income 18,663 417 921,829 645,865 {7,084 583) 12,246,628
Total revenues 50,601,551 90,511,361 545,966 {7,884 ,583) 143,774,285
Expenhses:
interest expense 17 887 253 18,039,761 3,382,378 - 35,409,282
Satary and employee benefil expense 1,247,942 23,067,102 - - 24 305,044
Cparating expense 2,885,731 12,740,718 101,517 {1,569,075) 14,158,891
Deprectation and amortization 538 851,467 - 852,105
Management fees - 6,415,508 - (6,415,508} -
Loss on sale of avaliable for sale securities, net 4708827 - 4708827
Loss on trading securities, nel 5,852,430 - - 5852430
Loss on redempticn of held to maturity securities, net 148,935 - - - 148,935
Ofhar-than-termporary impairment on securities 382,670 282,804 - 665474
Reafized Inss from settlement of derivatives, net 7,389,568 1,103,152 - - 8,492 721
Provision for ioan and note receivable losses 1,473,106 170,769 - - 1,643,875
Provision for Inan losses on loans sold with recourse - 2,022,874 . 2022874
Charitable confributions 3,409,000 500 - - 3,409,500
Other expense 572,303 288,527 - 861,830
Total expensés 48 (058,404 54,974,182 3,483,895 (7,984,583 106,531,888
Income before equity in net income of subsidiaries 14 543,147 25,537,179 {2.837.929) - 37,242,397
Equity in net income of subsidiaries - 40,080,326 (40,080,326}
Net income ¢ 14543147 § 25537179 § 37242397 % [40,080,326) § 37242397
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Greystone Select Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statement of Member's Equity
Year Ended December 31, 2008

Funding Servicing Select Eliminafion Total
Batance, December 31, 2007 $ 184538545 § B8482206 § 213508082 3 254,030,642) § 213,598,082
Net income 14 543,147 25537 179 37.242.397 (40,080,326) 37,242 3497
Distributions, net {81,627 628) (39,832.422) (133.224 246} 121,460,050 (133,224,246}
Other comprehansive income (loss) (2,419 466) 142 311 (2,277,155) 2,277 15 2,277,165
Ralance, December 31, 2008 § 0h034508  $ 75339364 § 115339078 8 | 170,373,963)  §  115,339.078
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Bvans, Mechwart, Hambleton & Tilton, Inc.
Enginesrs, Surveyors, Planners, Scientists

September 2, 2009

Mr. Joseph M. Reidy

Attorney af Law

Schottensiein Zox & Dunn Co,, LPA
250 Waest Street

Columbus, Ohio 43215

Subject: Tech South Pavement Engineering Control Maintenance

Dear Mr. Reidy,

As requested, | have prepared a letter for the purpose of identifying un estimated probable cost
for the inspection and maintenance of the pavement engineering controls of the Tech South
project. The costs are estimated as follows:

Hem Yearly Cost
Semi-Annual Pavement Visual Inspection and Letter Report (Prepared by EMH&T) $1,500
Crack Sealing, Hot Applied (Per City of Columbus ltem 413) £3.000
Engineer's Estimate of Probable Yearly Cost $4,500

This inspection and maintenance program will apply through the design life of the pavement, but
additional maintenance may be required beyond this time period. If you have any further
questions or concerns, please feel free fo reach me at {614) 775-4390.

Sincerely,

. HAMBLETON & TILTON, INC.

tkenbush, PE, LEED AP
Associate & Project Manager

Copies:
Louis Gibb, Tech South Development, LLC

A legacy of experlence. A reputation for excelience.

5500 New Albany Read, Columbus, OH 42054 = Phone 414.775.4500 » Fox £14.775.4800

Colurnbus = Allanta » Choratte « Cincinnall « Indionageis
smht.com




Affidavit of David Foley

State of Ghio )

R

County of Franklin )

I, David Foley, being first duly swom according to law, state that, to the hegt of my knowledge,
information and belief:

1.

[ am the Facility Manager of TechSouth, the former Techneglas Plant, at 727 E. Jenkins
Avenue, Columbus, Ohio {the “Property™) and personatly familiar with all of its buildings

and the operations of all of its facilities.

1 2m employed by TechSouth Development Co., LLC, one of the velunteers at the
Property and am authorized to submit information on its behalf.

Prior to the recent demolition of the glass-making portions of the facility as part of the
Clean Chio Revitalization Fund Project, there was an extensive system of trenches and
sumps which collected water that would percolate upward through the floors and from
the sides of the foundations in the deeper basements.

As part of demolition work described above, most of these basements were demolished
and backfilled to ground surface, leaving only the trenches and sumps that are focated in
a portion of the former forming area basement depicted on the attached figure.

As the Facility Manager, [ am responsible for the water treatment system that is operated
at the facility under NPDES Permit No. 4TNOG0O32¥ND. This system currently has one
outfall, 002, as reflected in the Permit. The location of Outfall 002, which discharges to 2
City of Columbus storm sewer along 19™ Street, is illustrated on the attached figure.

Based on my experience with the water treatment system, the estimated annual cost 10
operate this system is $41,609, as reflected on the attached spreadsheet.

The information contained in this affidavit is true, accurate, and complete to the best of
my knowledge.

Further affiant sayeth naught.

Signature of Affiant

Sworn to and subscribed in my presence this Q Tﬂ; day of December, 2009

N
Y Comiiy

DY Py T . T

JOSEFH 1. 77y
TTORAEY

L DATE

Z/ %ignature of Notary Pubj\c
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Cost Of Operating the Storm Water Treatment Plant

Monthiy Yearly
Supplies/Testing/Disposal

Agua Science 51414 $16,963
EC Box Renial 3252 £3.021
£Q Disposal $557 36,683
EA Group Testing 3116 $1.380
Labor

Operator #1 5662 37,950
Operator #2 3468 35612

Totals 33,467 $41609



